Public Document Pack

SCRUTINY BOARD (STRATEGY AND RESOURCES)
Meeting to be held remotely in Zoom on
Monday, 15th February, 2021 at 10.30 am
(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 10.00 a.m.)
MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
G Almass -

Beeston and Holbeck;

P Carlill -

Calverley and Farsley;

D Chapman S Firth M Harland (Chair) -

Rothwell;
Harewood;
Kippax and Methley;

H Hayden -

Temple Newsam;

D Jenkins -

Killingbeck and Seacroft;

J McKenna M Midgley M Robinson S Seary -

Armley;
Kippax and Methley;
Harewood;
Pudsey;

Principal Scrutiny Adviser:
Rob Clayton
Tel: 37 88790
Produced on Recycled Paper

A

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the
press and public will be excluded).
(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of
an appeal must be received in writing by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting).

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1

To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3
If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:
No exempt items have been identified.

B

Item
No
3

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration.
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes.)

4

DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY
INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES
To receive any apologies for absence and
notification of substitutes.

6

MINUTES - 11 JANUARY 2021

7 - 14

To confirm as a correct record, the minutes of the
meeting held on 11 January 2021
7

WHITE ROSE ENERGY CLOSURE
To consider a report from the Head of Democratic
Services that introduces information regarding the
closure of White Rose Energy in 2020. The report
focusses on the relationship with Robin Hood
Energy and the reasons for the sale of that
company, the achievements of White Rose
Energy, the implications of its closure on residents
in Leeds and any lessons learnt and future options
for this type of arrangement in Leeds.

C

15 24

Item
No
8

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
IMPLEMENTATION OF SOCIAL VALUE INTO
PROCUREMENT

25 42

To consider a report from the Director of
Resources and Housing inviting the Scrutiny Board
to consider an update report on social value in
procurement following previous consideration in
January 2020 that focussed on social value
guidance for commissioners in the Council.

9

IMPROVING THE EXPERIENCE AND
OUTCOMES OF BLACK, ASIAN AND MINORITY
ETHNIC COLLEAGUES AT LEEDS CITY
COUNCIL

43 48

To consider a report from the Director of
Resources and Housing setting out the Council’s
response to a call for urgent action from the BAME
staff network in response to the Black Lives Matter
movement, the disproportionate impact of Covid-19
on those communities and colleagues and the
need to address a broad range of issues for Black,
Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) colleagues
working in the Council, some new and many
longstanding.
10

FUTURE WAYS OF WORKING AND
WORKPLACE REALISATION (THIRD REPORT)

49 66

To receive the third report in the Board’s inquiry
into agile working, developing new ways of working
and estate realisation. On this occasion from the
Director of City Development looking at how the
Council has adapted to Covid-19, how the
pandemic has accelerated existing trends around
new ways of working and changes to how services
are delivered and from which buildings and
facilities.
11

WORK SCHEDULE
To consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for
the 2020/21 municipal year.

D

67 76

Item
No
12

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
Monday, 22nd March 2021 at 10.30 am (Premeeting for all Board Members at 10.00 am)
THIRD PARTY RECORDING
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those
not present to see or hear the proceedings either as
they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of
those proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is
available from the contacts on the front of this agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties – code of practice
a) Any published recording should be
accompanied by a statement of when and
where the recording was made, the context
of the discussion that took place, and a clear
identification of the main speakers and their
role or title.
b) Those making recordings must not edit the
recording in a way that could lead to
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the
proceedings or comments made by
attendees. In particular there should be no
internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at
any point but the material between those
points must be complete.

E

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
SCRUTINY BOARD (STRATEGY AND RESOURCES)
MONDAY, 11TH JANUARY, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor M Harland in the Chair
Councillors G Almass, P Carlill,
D Chapman, S Firth, H Hayden, D Jenkins,
J McKenna, M Midgley, M Robinson and
S Seary

65

Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents

66

There were no appeals against the refusal of inspection of documents.
Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public

67

There were no exempt items.
Late Items

68

There were no late items.
Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

69

There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests.
Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes

70

There were no apologies.
Minutes - 16 November 2020

71

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 16th November 2020
be approved as a correct record.
Matters arising
It was noted, that in recent meetings there had been discussions in relation to
a letter sent to the Government asking for a long term funding solution for
Adult Social Care Services from Cllr Harland as Chair of Scrutiny Board
Strategy and Resources and Cllr Hayden as Chair of Scrutiny Board Adults,
Heath and Active Lifestyles. This was originally sent in September, but as yet
no response had been received. Members were advised of a follow up letter
seeking that response which would be circulated to them, and that Board
Members would be informed when a reply is received.

72

The Board noted that Cllr Jenkins had requested a follow up in relation to
Welcome to Yorkshire. The Chair advised that she would consider a follow up
either in a written briefing or in a report to a future Board meeting.
Financial Health Monitoring 2020/21- Month 7 (October)
The report of the Head of Democratic Services provided members of the
Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) with information regarding the
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 15th February, 2021

Page 7

projected 2020/21 financial health position of those service areas that fall
within the Board’s remit at Month 7 (October).
In attendance for this item were:
 Cllr James Lewis – Deputy Leader and Executive Member for
Resources;
 Neil Evans – Director of Resources and Housing;
 Victoria Bradshaw – Chief Officer Financial Services.
The Chief Officer Financial Services presented the report informing the Board
Members of the following points:
 This report covers this financial year for 2020/21 up to October and
going forward;
 The report showed a balanced position and included:
o Cost of severance in relation to Early Leavers Initiative (ELI);
o Proposals as to how the balance had been achieved including
none Covid savings, ELI savings;
o Adult Social Care and Government funding;
o Collection fund deficit;
o Housing Revenue Account;
o Dedicated schools fund;
o Council Tax and Business Rates.
The Board was advised that Capital Receipts and none Covid savings had
been used to mitigate the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), and this had
been reported to Executive Board throughout the year.

73

RESOLVED - To note the content of the report.
Initial Budget Proposals for 2021/2022
The report of the Head of Democratic Services provided members of the
Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) with the Executive Board’s initial
budget proposals for 2021/22 for consideration, review and comment on
matters and proposals relating to service areas that fall within the Scrutiny
Board’s remit.
In attendance for this item were:
 Cllr James Lewis – Deputy Leader and Executive Member for
Resources
 Neil Evans – Director of Resources and Housing
 Victoria Bradshaw – Chief Officer Financial Services
Members were informed that this report detailed the proposals for 2021/22
and also the provisional budgets for 2022/23 and 2023/24. This report took
into consideration the spending review announced on 25th November 2020, it
was noted that subsequent to the report being issued there had been an
announcement on the 17th December, around the provisional local
government financial settlement. This had been reviewed and information
provided to Members. The Board were advised that the settlement means the
Council is better off by £560,000.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 15th February, 2021

Page 8

The report covered the spending review, economic forecast, Council tax and
business rates forecast, the devolution deal and the gain share.
In response to questions from Members, the Board was informed of the
following:
 Loss of income related to the Covid-19 pandemic is compensated by
the government scheme who provide 75p in every £1. The government
had also said that there will be additional funding of around £2.3m for
each month that we are in lockdown. This will be taken into account
when reporting to the Executive Board in February;
 It was noted that the courts had been holding virtual meetings, but at
the time of the meeting there were no figures in relation to court fee
income. However, the Chief Officer said that she would come back with
the information;
 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is within the Council budget,
therefore, is taken into consideration. Members were provided with a
detailed explanation as to how the Council proposes to mitigate MRP in
the budget for 2021/22, although it was recognised that it has had
some impact on the budget proposals. It was noted that at full Council
in 2016, the Members had agreed to MRP adjustments to ensure that
frontline services were not cut;
 The Board was provided with an explanation of the Massachusetts
Institute of Technology (MIT) and Regional Entrepreneurship
Accelerator Programme (REAP), Leeds is participating in the
programme. Funding from the Business Rates Pool had assisted with
the employment of an individual to develop the plan and procure a
programme which will be starting soon. Discussions are ongoing with
WYCA to gain access to monies to support the recovery of the
economy throughout the region to encourage recovery from the
pandemic. The Board requested more information on this and to have
an oversight on decision making in relation to this;
 There are reserves for Adult Social Care (ASC) totalling £17.7m with
some established for unprecedented events, therefore there could be a
need to use some of these reserves to deal with Covid issues, this was
contained within the submitted report. It was noted that full Council will
consider the precept for ASC in relation to Council tax in 2021/22;
 It was recognised that in relation to right to buy there would be a loss of
income. However, the Board was advised that the plan was to build
300 council homes per year and that the Council continue lobby
government around the technicalities of right to buy;
 Members were advised that information would be provided in relation
to budgeted amounts for staff in ASC;
 It was recognised that there had been an increase in voids, and that
this had been due to health and safety of staff visiting and repairing
properties during the pandemic. The Board was advised that once
restrictions have been lifted the amount of voids would be lowered as
there was still a significant waiting list for those wanting council
accommodation.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 15th February, 2021

Page 9

The Chair said that this was an unprecedented year, and the approach to
developing budget proposals, with closer involvement of scrutiny boards, was
good and had produced much more dynamic conversation on budgets, and
for Members to have input through scrutiny. She thanked the staff in finance
for all their hard work on the Council budget at this current time.
In response to a question from the Chair, the Board was informed that due to
staff leaving through the Early Leavers Initiative (ELI) there would be some
difficulties and pressures. However, a robust decision making process had
been used, including detailed business cases, to ensure there were plans in
place for business continuity and to address our priorities.
RESOLVED – To note the content of the report.

74

Performance Reporting: Culture and An Efficient, Enterprising and
Healthy Organisation
The report of the Director of Resources and Housing, Director of City
Development and Director of Communities and Environment provides a
summary of performance information relating to the Best City Priority: Culture
and the Best Council Ambition: An Efficient, Enterprising and Healthy
Organisation, both of which fall within the scope of the Strategy and
Resources Scrutiny Board.
In attendance for this item were:
 Cllr. James Lewis – Deputy Leader and Executive Member for
Resources
 Neil Evans – Director of Resources and Housing
 Chris Shillito - Performance & Improvement Officer
 Eve Roodhouse – Chief Officer Economic Development
 Graham Sefton - Head of HR in Resources and Housing
Members were informed that this report was a periodic performance update to
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board providing a summary of the Best
Council Plan Key Performance Indictors (KPIs) that relate to both the Culture
priority and the Best Council ambition of being an Efficient, Enterprising and
Healthy Organisation. The report was based on the most recent performance
results submitted to the council’s Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) in
November 2020.
Member’s attention was drawn to the two appendices, the first was a
summary of the most recent KPI results relevant to the Strategy & Resources
Scrutiny Board portfolio areas, the second showed a breakdown of the
council’s workforce profile.
Members were informed that due to the impact of Covid on the culture sector
some figures were significantly lower especially in the case of museums and
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 15th February, 2021

Page 10

galleries. Also due to restrictions there have been no major events. Although,
it was hoped that some events would be able to go ahead in the forthcoming
year and that as restrictions are lifted, museums and galleries would start
reopening.
Members were advised that there was a number of concerns in relation to
staff employed in this sector due to the impact of the pandemic which may
have led to some staff seeking employment in other sectors.
Member’s discussions included:
 The morale of staff as detailed in the Pulse Survey. They recognised
that HR were supporting individuals in relation to wellbeing and mental
health concerns and in setting up staff who are working from home to
ensure that they have the correct equipment.
 Use of online facilities in relation to museums and galleries.
 Focus on the workforce provided through the Pulse Survey including:
o Equality and religion;
o Signposting to appropriate network groups and support;
o Relaunch of the exit interviews;
o Encouragement of staff to complete the survey;
o Mid-year check-in for all staff.
It was reiterated that staff had done well to continue to provide services for the
community through a very challenging period.

75

RESOLVED – To note the content of the report.
Covid-19: Agile working approach and Estate Realisation - second
report
The report of the Director of Resources and Housing provided the Scrutiny
Board Members with an update on the wellbeing support being provided to all
employees, including a specific reference, as requested, to the practical
arrangements of those working from home. The report also shared the latest
plans for further engagement around future working arrangement and
patterns.
In attendance for this item were:
 Cllr James Lewis – Deputy Leader of Council and Executive Member
for Resources
 Graham Sefton - Head of HR for Resources and Housing
Members were informed of the following points:
 HR are looking at how to engage with staff going forward as we move
towards more home working in the future;
 HR continue to assist and support staff who are going into the office
especially if the person is going in for wellbeing issues;
 Over 50% of staff who were surveyed were happy and were of the view
that they were receiving support from their managers and were
supported to work at home;
 Staff appraisals had not taken place this year due to the circumstances
created by the pandemic. However, staff were completing mid-year
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 15th February, 2021

Page 11














check-ins asking staff about the support received and about their
wellbeing. These were due to be completed by end of January;
Managers were being requested to update business plans where
necessary especially in relation to posts where staff had left on ELI;
IT equipment had been provided to those staff that required it to work
at home, with 13,000 pieces of equipment being distributed to staff.
Some equipment had been bought but the council had also recycled IT
kit where possible;
It was noted that in the future staff would combine working from home
and going to the office and that office working would be for more
collaborative working. HR were engaging with the unions on this and
further proposals will be brought forward in the future.
Member’s discussions included:
Praise for how quickly staff had got straight in to working from home;
The positive feedback from staff in the Pulse Surveys, although they
recognised that it was difficult to retain a positive happy attitude with
the continued lockdown restrictions;
Recognition that staff were receiving support through a variety of
means but were of the view that it was difficult to substitute coming
together to have conversations, as it was a different experience
meeting on line and could be seen as a barrier;
It was noted that there was an established system in relation to listing
equipment such as IT and furniture that had been provided to enable
staff to work from home;
Request for information in relation to IT kit provided to Members and
number of items recycled.

The Chair said that this report covered some really important issues and was
of the view that the Board had an important part to play in how the council
adapts and changes its ways of working in the future.
RESOLVED – To note the content of the report.
76

Work Schedule
The report of the Head of Democratic Services requested Members to
consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the municipal year 2020/21.
The Principal Scrutiny Adviser informed the Board that the meeting in
February would consider reports in relation to:
 White Rose Energy and Robin Hood Energy – Update Report,
Implications and alternative suppliers
 Social Value Update - Procurement
 BAME CLT Action Plan
 Covid-19: Agile working approach and Estate Realisation (third report)
Members requested that the report on Social Value and Procurement should
include apprenticeships and larger schemes.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 15th February, 2021

Page 12

77

RESOLVED – To note the content of the report.
Date and Time of Next Meeting
The next meeting of Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources will be on 15 th
February 2021, at 10:30am (with a pre meet at 10:00am for all Board
members).

The meeting concluded at 12:10

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 15th February, 2021

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Report author: Rob Clayton
Tel: 0113 3788790
Report of Head of Democratic Services
Report to Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources)
Date: 15 February 2021
Subject: Closure of White Rose Energy

Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to update the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board
on the impact the closure of White Rose Energy has had on Leeds residents,
following question raised by Board members at a meeting held in October 2020.

1.2

Attached at Appendix 1 is a briefing note that provides details on this and on the
rationale for establishing the company, the reasons for the sale of Robin Hood
Energy, the achievements of White Rose Energy and any lessons learnt and future
options in Leeds.

2. Background Information
2.1

As part of the Council’s Affordable Warmth Strategy a long term ambition of the
authority is to tackle fuel poverty in Leeds. The principle tools used to do this are
increasing energy efficiency in homes in the city and by reducing the cost of energy
for consumers.

2.2

White Rose Energy was established in 2016 under Nottingham City Council’s not for
profit Robin Hood Energy Company and operated in Leeds for four years up to
September 2020, the stated aim being to tackle fuel poverty through cheaper tariffs
for customers in the city. Due to the difficulties experienced by Robin Hood Energy,
principally linked to Government tariff caps and increases in commodity prices, all
Page 15

White Rose Energy customers in Leeds, and across the wider region, were moved to
British Gas as part of the arrangements made by Nottingham City Council to close
Robin Hood Energy and sell it to an alternative supplier, which was British Gas.
2.3

Of the options available the sale to British Gas avoided the potential liquidation of
Robin Hood Energy and the possibility that customers would be left with a ‘supplier of
last resort’ scenario. Under this arrangement any customer in debt would have had
no protection and no customer would have had a guarantee about continuing on a
competitive tariff.

3.

Main issues

3.1

The Council acted quickly to mitigate the impact of the closure of White Rose Energy
on Leeds residents. A key element of that was to work closely with Nottingham City
Council and Robin Hood Energy to ensure appropriate contractual protection was in
place for all customers prior to signing a deed of termination with Robin Hood
Energy.

3.2

A further important element of the contract with Robin Hood Energy was a council
house void switching arrangement. Through this Robin Hood Energy did all the
required work to take over the energy supply of a void property. Without this the
Council Voids Team is unable to efficiently deliver this service without additional
resources. Important benefits of this service for incoming tenants included a
competitively priced energy supply and installation of smart meters.

3.3

A new arrangement has now been made by the Council with Energy Angels which
not only saves officer time and administrative costs for the Council it also offers
tenants the opportunity to move to a smart credit meter as opposed to a pre-payment
meter and assistance in switching energy companies should they wish to.

3.4

It is important to note that White Rose Energy delivered a number of significant
achievements for Leeds residents. For example customers consistently paid a lower
rate than OFGEM’s ‘default tariff cap’ and the rates were always within the best value
quartile of all tariffs available on the market, many customers saved over £100 per
year by using White Rose Energy as compared to switching supplier. In addition
commission payments were made to the Council as a result of the arrangement with
Robin Hood Energy which enabled investment in wider fuel poverty, energy and
environmental projects.

3.5

The attached briefing note (Appendix 1) considers options as to how the Council will
pursue this agenda in the future and sets out the following as possible areas for
further work and development:

 To establish a white label arrangement similar to White Rose Energy, considered to
be a less viable option due to the volatility of the energy supply market and the level
of expertise required in the field.
 To seek to create an alternative and less intensive type of partnership with an energy
company, focussed on delivering lower costs to residents.

Page 16

 To participate in an existing collective switching service, to ‘bulk-buy’ special deals for
any interested residents. Though it is noted that this could not include void
properties.
3.6

Over the medium term these ideas will be considered and developed and if
appropriate be brought to a future Executive Board if any of the options are believed
to be worthy of formalising and progressing.

4. Consultation and engagement
4.1.1 This item has been brought forward following requests for additional information on
White Rose Energy from members of Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules state that, where appropriate, all terms of
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘to review how and to
what effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all
equality areas, as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward
looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives.
4.3.2 Issues contained in this report relate to the Housing Best City Priority and the desire
to improve energy performance in homes and reduce fuel poverty in the city. It also
relates to the Best City outcomes which want everyone in Leeds to live in good
quality, affordable homes in clean and well cared for places.
Climate Emergency
4.3.3 When considering areas of work, the Board is reminded that influencing climate
change and sustainability should be a key area of focus.
4.3.4 This item discusses issues related to developing energy efficient housing in the city
and the Council’s focus on improving energy efficiency and delivering affordable
warmth and tackling fuel poverty. All of these issues will provide clear benefits to
the climate and the aim to reduce carbon emissions in Leeds.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 Any financial implications related to White Rose Energy are contained in Appendix
1 to this report.
4.4.2 The arrangement with Robin Hood Energy that established White Rose Energy did
not carry any financial risk for Leeds City Council.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 This report has no specific legal implications.
4.6

Risk Management
Page 17

4.6.1 This report has no specific risk management implications.
5. Conclusions
5.1

Following a request from members of the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board a
detailed briefing is provided at Appendix 1 setting out the key issues related to the
closure of White Rose Energy along with discussion of possible options as to how
this agenda can be taken forward in the future.

6. Recommendations
7. The Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) is asked to consider this report and
attached appendix and agree any specific scrutiny actions that may be appropriate.
8. Background Documents1
8.1

None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.
1

Page 18

Appendix 1

Scrutiny Briefing on the Closure of White Rose Energy
Purpose
This report provides Scrutiny Members with brief details of the closure of White Rose Energy to help
learn lessons for the future. It includes:






The rationale for establishing White Rose Energy and an outline of the contract with Robin Hood
Energy;
The reasons for the sale of Robin Hood Energy;
The impact of the sale on White Rose Energy customers and the council, together with steps
that we took to mitigate the impacts;
A summary of the main achievements of White Rose Energy;
Lessons learnt and potential future options.

Background to White Rose Energy
The council has a long standing commitment to addressing the scourge of fuel poverty by improving
the energy efficiency of homes, reducing the cost of energy and raising incomes for the lowest paid.
We knew that many residents did not actively switch tariffs and were unwittingly stuck on expensive
variable rate tariffs and, as a result, were paying too much for energy. At the time, there was some
lobbying for Leeds City Council to establish a fully-fledged energy company, but this was felt to be a
risky move.
Therefore, as part of our Affordable Warmth strategy the council took the decision to establish
White Rose Energy as a ‘white label’ energy brand in 2016 under Nottingham City Council’s not-forprofit energy company Robin Hood Energy.
This aimed to give customers peace of mind that they were paying a fair and consistent rate and to
reduce the average energy price paid by Leeds residents. The council had three principal routes to
attract customers:
1. A void switching service for Leeds council homes, to ensure that new tenants started their
tenancy on a fair tariff and to install smart meters where possible;
2. Promotion to residents across the city, via free of cheap council and partner marketing channels
and use of targeted social media campaigns and above the line advertising;
3. White Rose Energy had a geographical coverage of the whole of Yorkshire so the council also
benefitted from residents from across the region taking the tariff and signed formal partnership
agreements with Bradford and Calderdale councils, who promoted to their residents.
The arrangement meant that residents could benefit from preferential energy costs with no
investment from the council, other than officer time and a small marketing budget. It also meant
there was no financial risk to Leeds City Council and provided the council with a small income from
White Rose Energy customers.

Sale of Robin Hood Energy
The energy market has changed dramatically since Nottingham established Robin Hood Energy.

Page 19

Appendix 1
At the time, the market was dominated by the established big 6 suppliers, with only a small number
of small challengers. There was a perception that customers were paying too much, particularly
those who did not regular switch suppliers, and that large suppliers were making super profits. This
led to an influx of new entrants, such as council backed companies such as Robin Hood Energy and
Bristol Energy, together with many purely commercial ventures. This led to significant reductions in
consumer energy prices in an increasingly competitive market.
However, the introduction by government of tariff caps bunched up the market. This, together with
a sharp increase in commodity prices, meant that many companies were locked into supply
contracts that lost money and forced at least 16 energy suppliers out of business during 2019 and
2020.
Following losses by Robin Hood Energy in 2018/19 and forecasts for continuing heavy losses,
Nottingham City Council commissioned an external audit and strategic review over the spring and
summer of 2020.
This concluded that the only viable options open to Nottingham City Council were to either halt
further funding for Robin Hood Energy, which would have bankrupted the company, or to seek a
buyer.
Fortunately, Nottingham managed to avoid the worst option of a bankrupt company and made the
decision to sell Robin Hood Energy’s energy supply business and customers to British Gas. British
Gas were essentially only interested in acquiring the customers and all c250 Robin Hood Energy Staff
were made redundant and all white label arrangements were terminated.
The sale was announced on the 4th September and concluded on the 16th of September.
Customers were migrated to British Gas during October and November and Robin Hood Energy
placed in the hands of administrators. It is now being wound up.

Impact of Sale on Customers and Council
When we were first alerted by Nottingham City Council of their intention to sell Robin Hood Energy,
our principal concern was to protect of White Rose Energy customers, particularly tenants who had
been switched via the council house void switching service.
We therefore worked closely with Nottingham City Council and Robin Hood Energy to ensure that
they had appropriate contractual protection for all customer, prior to signing a deed of termination
with Robin Hood Energy. Key points included:






That British Gas agree to offer rates as good as, or cheaper than, every customer’s existing
tariffs.
That there were no exit fees leaving customers free to switch to a different supplier should they
wish.
That where customers have arranged debt management plans, British Gas have agreed to
honour these arrangements and will work with customers in debt but without debt management
plans to put these in place.
That British Gas will offer the Warm Homes Discount to all eligible White Rose Energy
Customers.
That no customers would be left behind, with any customers that did not proactively choose to
switch to British Gas being automatically switched.

Page 20

Appendix 1


That all outstanding commission payments to the council up to the date of the sale to British Gas
would be made.

Whilst we were not able to support individual customers during the sale, we worked closely with
Robin Hood Energy to ensure that good communications went out to all customers, using letters and
emails where available, plus updated the White Rose Energy website and issued press releases. We
also briefed key services, such as The Leeds Money Information Centre, Home Plus Leeds and the
Green Doctor so that they were able to support individual residents to take the right decision about
their future energy supplier.
We had no means to track what every customer chose to do, as Robin Hood Energy were forced to
make all staff redundant who were not key to the sale, to reduce losses to the council. However,
following the initial letter to customers Robin Hood Energy confirmed that around 90% of customers
who had left them had transferred to British Gas. We anticipate that well over 50% of the 7,500
active White Rose Energy customers, including around 3,000 social housing tenants, transferred to
British Gas.
Now that the sale has concluded, we have no way of tracking what ex-customers of White Rose
Energy who were switched to British Gas decide to do: whether they remain as British Gas
customers or switch to an alternative supplier.
In addition to the work required to help ensure all customers were protected following the sale of
Robin Hood, the council also needed to establish a new void switching partner. As part of the
contract with RHE, they provided a full council house void switching service for Leeds City Council,
using the WRE branding. Under this void switching arrangement, RHE undertook all activities
required to take over the energy supply of the property. This had a number of benefits:






Incoming tenant is automatically on supply with a competitive supplier;
The administrative burden on the voids team is significantly reduced;
Smart meters are installed automatically where needed and suitable;
RHE do not charge standing charges for an agreed period during voids, minimising the cost to
the council;
A small annual commission is received by the council for every property on supply, which is
reinvested in energy savings.

Without a dedicated voids switching service, the Voids Team are not able to deliver an efficient voids
service and require additional resources. For example:






Voids officers have to research current gas supplies via a website and electric suppliers via a call
to Northern Power Grid.
Voids officers must contact every existing supplier to request the account is put in the council’s
name during voids and request the appropriate gas cards, RTI codes etc; these calls alone can
take upwards of 2 hours per property.
There are significant delays in receiving new cards and RTI codes from suppliers and additional
visits are required by council Officers to retrieve cards, top up, etc.
As we have no agreement with other providers when we report Meter Tampering a visit needs
to be made to the property. Energy companies do not call ahead for access, as RHE do, so
officers may have to wait at the property all day.
The council must close the account manually via another phone call to the providers once a new
tenant has moved in.

Page 21

Appendix 1
The council therefore reviewed the market and, as void services are a specialist area, no suitable
frameworks have been found. The council has instead awarded a contract to Energy Angels, who
previously provided services to the ENE ALMO. Key elements of the Energy Angels service include:







Comprehensive void management service, using a dedicated portal to manage data flow
between the council and Energy Angels.
Choice of 3 pre-vetted energy suppliers to switch voids to.
Installation of smart meters which can be switched to credit mode remotely in all voids. Any
tenant on a pre-payment meter will be offered the choice of moving to credit mode as this is
generally a cheaper tariff.
Waiving of standing charges during the void period.
When tenants move in they are offered advice on the best tariff and helped to switch energy
companies if they wish, with no exit fee.
A commitment to a 4 hour service level agreement with compensation if this target is missed in
any month.

Suitable due diligence was undertaken (financial and references from other clients) and a 12 month
contact was awarded to Energy Angels. Since contract award, Energy Angels rapidly established the
systems for Leeds then systematically worked through the backlog of voids that had been created by
the end of the Robin Hood Energy contract and the pandemic. Feedback from officers is that the
service from Energy Angels continues to be excellent.

What the Partnership Achieved
During the four years that we operated White Rose Energy in partnership with Robin Hood Energy
we achieved some real benefits in the fight against fuel poverty.







White Rose Energy customers have always paid less than OFGEM’s ‘Default Tariff Cap’ and our
rates have consistently been within the best value quartile of all tariffs available.
We achieved rapid customer growth, hitting approximately 6,000 customers one year after
launch. Numbers then rose less quickly and peaked at around 8,500 2 years after launch. With
high attrition rates when attractive fixed rates ended, we then plateaued at 8,000 to 8,500 until
the 2019, with numbers then falling steadily until Robin Hood was wound up.
It is very hard to quantify savings, due the number of variables and the recent introduction of
bundled tariffs (e.g. British Gas offering ‘free’ boiler care through some tariffs) we have typically
been over £100 cheaper than the big 6 suppliers.
We estimate that in total, customers have saved c£3.1m over the 4 years of White Rose Energy.
The council has received around £400k in commission payments from Robin Hood Energy over
the last 4 years. This has been used to fund the service (i.e. operations, marketing, charges in
the council house void period, etc) to pay commission to Bradford and Calderdale with the
surplus invested in fuel poverty, energy and environment projects. These include:
o A contribution of £50k to the Discretionary Fuel Poverty Fund, which typically attracts an
additional c£3.80 of external investment for every pound we invest.
o Investment of £30k in 37,040 LED light bulbs to install in council houses through the
voids process in partnership with Housing Leeds. These are expected to save tenants
over £2m over the life of the bulbs.
o A contribution of £15k to purchase over 14,000 trees for planting by schools and to
create the Baby Week Forest in Weetwood, in partnership with Children’s Services.
o A further £135k is yet to be allocated.

Page 22

Appendix 1
In addition to these cashable benefits, the council has also received benefits which are harder to
quantify. One of the chief amongst these was to gain experience of the workings of the energy
market through our partnership with Robin Hood Energy, without the significant financial exposure
and losses incurred by Nottingham and Bristol. We also benefitted from a market leading void
switching service (which we were able to shape especially in the early days) with good standards of
performance combined with attractive tariffs for customers and a commission to the council. This
also helped to install smart meters in many of our council homes much earlier than would otherwise
have been the case.

Lessons Learnt
Although there were many benefits to running White Rose Energy, there were some disadvantages
that we hadn’t anticipated and a number of lessons learnt during project delivery. Some of the
principle lessons learnt were:
1. That the energy market is fiercely competitive, very complex and highly regulated and requires a
very experienced management team and a heavy financial investment in excellent systems and
the ability to forward buy energy extremely well in order to compete.
2. Customers are very price sensitive and only a small number are persuaded to stay with a
company for social good. Over 50% of customers left White Rose Energy during the 4 years of
operations (i.e. over 16,000 customers switched but over 8,000 left).
3. The energy market is a very political market and government policy changes can fundamentally
alter the market extremely quickly.
4. That even companies with extremely clear aims and social values have to change if the market
changes to avoid going out of business and that even contracts with close partners do not allow
us to have sufficient influence over their business direction.

Options
The council has the following broad options:
1. To establish a white label arrangement similar to White Rose Energy.
2. To seek to create an alternative and less intensive type of partnership with an energy
company, focussed on delivering lower costs to residents.
3. To participate in an existing collective switching service, to ‘bulk-buy’ special deals for any
interested residents. This could not include voids.
However, in addition to the change to the market outlined above, COVID-19 has severely stretched
council resources. Government has recognised that it is important to try to stimulate new jobs and
is focussing heavily on a green recovery. Leeds has been extremely active and has secured over
£12m of funding to deliver in extremely challenging timescales, on top of the commitments already
in place for £24m of ERDF funding and the existing Housing Leeds investment programmes. This
means staff resources are under intensive pressure.
Given this and the lessons learnt, the council is therefore not seeking to establish another
partnership similar to White Rose Energy.
Also, in the short term we feel that our limited time is best spent delivering energy saving projects,
rather than seeking another energy supply deal.
In the medium term, we propose to explore both options 2 and 3 in more detail, potentially with a
pilot, and would seek a decision from Executive Board if we think there is merit in formalising an
arrangement.

Page 23

Appendix 1
Summary
Although it is extremely disappointing that Robin Hood Energy has ceased trading, we understand
Nottingham City Council’s decision, given the unsustainable scale of losses and the changes to the
market.
By finding a buyer and avoiding liquidation, all customers have been spared the worst-case scenario
of ‘Supplier of Last Resort’, where any customer in debt would have had no protection and no
customer would have had a guarantee about continuing with a competitive tariff.
The council is confident that the creation of White Rose Energy led to significant benefits to Leeds,
with many thousands of customers saving over £100 per year, compared to not switching.
In the medium term, we will evaluate other options to related to energy supplies, but have no
immediate plans to re-enter the market or establish another white label.

Page 24

Agenda Item 8
Report author: Sasha Walton
Tel: 0113 3781873

Report of Director of Resources and Housing
Report to Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Date: 15th February 2021
Subject: Implementation of Social Value into Procurement
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

1.

Purpose of this report
To provide Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) with an update as to progress
towards implementation of Social Value in procurement activity following the adoption
by the council of the Social Value Guidance for Commissioners.

2.

Background information

2.1

The Social Value Act (2012) requires the council to have regard to Economic, Social
and Environmental well-being in connection with our contracts.

2.2

Social Value involves looking beyond the price of each individual contract and
looking at what the collective benefit to a community can be when a public body
chooses to award a contract. It refers to wider financial and non-financial impacts of
projects and programmes including the wellbeing of individuals and communities,
social capital and the environment.

2.3

In May 2016, the council and other partners in the city signed up to the “Leeds
Social Value Charter”. The Leeds Social Value Charter sets out Social Value
ambitions for Leeds and goes further than the Social Value Act in asking council
officers to consider Social Value in all we do, including procurement and
commissioning.

Page 25

2.4

In order to facilitate this, the council’s Procurement and Commercial Services team
(PACS) has developed Social Value Guidance for Commissioners, which was
endorsed by Scrutiny (Resources and Housing) on 20th January 2020. The Social
Value Guidance for Commissioners includes (amongst other things):




2.5

3.

A requirement to consider the potential Social Value that might be delivered
through all our contracts, and in particular in respect of: employment and skills,
the environment (and climate change), and education (the 3 “E”s);
A requirement that suppliers should consider for themselves what else they can
do to be not just entrepreneurs but to be “social entrepreneurs” in Leeds;
For all contracts valued above £50,000, that commissioners should evaluate
any Social Value commitments as part of the tender process (suggesting at
least a 10% weighting).

Opportunities that may arise as a consequence of considering Social Value in
procurement are:
 Better Value for money - delivering more for the public pound by requiring
suppliers to do more than ‘just’ deliver the core services, and helping the council
to respond to financial pressures;
 Increasing local spend by rewarding organisations that are local or have a local
supply chain, especially SMEs and VCSEs;
 Increasing opportunities for disadvantaged people and promoting social
mobility;
 Promoting a responsible supply chain, and increasing supply chain resilience
and capacity;
 Leading to a cleaner, greener city;
 Building stronger more resilient communities, and improving community
integration;
 Helping local communities manage and recover from the impact of COVID-19;
 Creating new businesses, new jobs and new skills, and reducing the disability
employment gap;
 Tackling workforce inequality;
 Improving health and wellbeing.

Main issues

3.1

Following the adoption by the council of the Social Value Guidance for
Commissioners, a Social Value Board has been established. The Social Value
Board is chaired by the Director of Resources and Housing, and attended by senior
representatives and commissioners from all directorates. The Social Value Board
promotes the inclusion of social value in all the council’s procurements, provides the
opportunity for sharing of information and best practice in respect of Social Value,
and reports to directorates on the outcomes achieved. Beyond procurement, the
Social Value Board aims to consider other opportunities for delivering greater social
value through all aspects of the council’s activity.

3.2

In addition to the establishment of the Social Value Board, on 1st April 2020 the
council appointed Social Value Portal to support delivery of Social Value in
procurement. The Social Value Portal:

Page 26

3.2.1 utilises a nationally approved accounting methodology for measuring Social Value
in terms of economic, environmental and social impact via a series of themes,
outcomes and measures (TOMs):


6 themes - Promote Local Skill and Employment, Supporting Growth of
Responsible Regional Business, Social: Healthier, Safer and more Resilient
Communities, Environment: Decarbonising and Safeguarding our World,
Promoting Social innovation;



17 outcomes - Objectives or goals that an organisation is looking to achieve
that will contribute to the theme; and



58 measures - that can be used to assess whether or not the outcomes have
been achieved;

3.2.2 provides an interactive solution, designed to help organisations set targets in
procurements, manage supplier performance and store/report evidence;
3.2.3 provides a procurement platform for Social Value to help the council manage Social
Value aspects of tender processes for all contracts valued over £100,000 (including
evaluation of Social Value proposals) and to unlock social value in the supply chain;
3.2.4 monitors compliance with Social Value commitments made by winning tenderers,
with live reporting and interactive dashboards/displays including geospatial mapping
of value by area; and
3.2.5 provides specialist resource to the council to utilise the online system and generally
support Social Value activity.
3.3

The council has worked with Social Value Portal, internal council stakeholders
(including the Social Value Board) and local partners to align the national TOM’s
framework to service and Council priorities (i.e. the 3 “E”s), to create Leeds specific
TOMs and Leeds TOMs “Lite” (i.e. a simplified version for use in lower value
procurements). These Leeds specific TOMs are subject to regular review, with the
next review due in February 2021 and to include consultation with Leeds’ 3rd sector.

3.4

Further information about the national TOMs, and a copy of both the Leeds specific
TOMs and Leeds TOMs “Lite” is included in the appendix to this report.

3.5

Five council officers are Social Value Portal super-users and have received system
training, and around 120 staff members in total have received training in using
Social Value Portal to support their procurements.

3.6

Beyond the council, PACS officers have facilitated 3rd Sector, VCSE and SME
engagement sessions and provided support to ensure that they have the capacity to
work in partnership with the council to deliver Social Value. PACS officers have also
contributed to national Social Value conferences, and lead on the regional Social
Value Taskforce, providing an opportunity for regional collaboration and sharing of
best practice.

4.

Consultation and engagement
Page 27

4.1

Consultation on the Social Value Guidance for Commissioners was undertaken with
the Executive Member (who provided the Foreword for the guidance), the Corporate
Strategic Commissioning Group and Scrutiny (Strategy and Resources).
Consultation on all matters relating to the delivery of Social Value in procurement
regularly takes place with the Social Value Board, and commissioners across the
council and in the 3rd sector in Leeds have been consulted regarding the
development of Leeds specific TOMs. PACS officers continue to work with Internal
Audit colleagues to identify the most effective and appropriate method of identifying,
recording and reporting on Social Value in procurement.

4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 There are no implications for this report. Each procurement process requires
consideration of equality matters within any procurement activity undertaken, and
seeking Social Value in procurement activity based on the Leeds specific TOMs
and the utilising Social Value Portal is anticipated to deliver material benefits in
such regard.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The vision from the Best Council Plan is for Leeds to be a compassionate, caring
city that helps all its residents benefit from the effects of the city’s economic growth.
These values are reflected within the Procurement Strategy which will seek to
deliver the council’s best city and best council ambitions, and Social Value in
particular. It is considered that the Social Value Guidance for Commissioners, the
Leeds specific TOMs and the utilisation of Social Value Portal will assist the council
in achieving those ambitions.
Climate Emergency
4.3.2 The Social Value Guidance for Commissioners and the Leeds specific TOMs will
ensure that consideration of whether additional Social Value can be delivered by
improved environmental outcomes (including in relation to the climate emergency)
from the council’s procurement activity.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 The costs of putting in place the structure for delivering greater Social Value
through procurement (drafting the Social Value Guidance for Commissioners,
developing Leeds specific TOMs etc) to date have been internal staffing costs.
Costs relating to utilisation of the Social Value Portal are passed on to the winning
tenderer from each particular procurement by way of a nominal % charge related to
the overall contract value. These charges are reduced for successful 3rd sector
tenders.
4.4.2 Social Value through procurement seeks to deliver more for the public pound by
requiring suppliers to do more than ‘just’ deliver the core services, and helping the
council to respond to financial pressures.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 This report has no specific legal implications.
Page 28

4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 This report has no specific risk management implications. However, Risk
Management is a critical and continuous process, and appropriate risk assessments
will be undertaken, reviewed and managed as part of any procurement activity
undertaken.
5.

Conclusions

5.1

Since the adoption of the Social Value Guidance for Commissioners, significant
progress has been achieved in embedding Social Value opportunities in all
procurement activity. Numerous procurements have now benefitted from having
Social Value aspects evaluated and recorded on the Social Value Portal.
Performance data in respect of Social Value commitments will be reported annually
to Scrutiny (Strategy and Resources), and Corporate Governance and Audit
Committee. PACS officers also contribute to spreading Social Value best practice
on a regional and national basis.

6.

Recommendations
Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) is recommended to note the contents of
this report.

7.

Background documents1

7.1

None.

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
1

Page 29

This page is intentionally left blank

Introduction to TOMs 2020
Who are Social Value Portal?
We are the market leader in social value measurement. We have developed the online solution for
the measurement, procurement, management and reporting of social value.
For procurement we act as a procurement platform for social value to help organisations manage
the tender process and to unlock social value within the supply chain. For more information please
follow: https://socialvalueportal.com/services/

What is the TOMs framework?
The National TOMs Framework – which stands for Themes, Outcomes and Measures – aims to
provide a minimum reporting standard to help buyers measure and justify the pursuit of social value
outcomes in their contracts. It provides is a robust, transparent and defensible solution for assessing
and awarding tenders, which is especially important for the public sector.
Since the Public Services (Social Value) Act came into force in 2013, commissioners of public services
have been obliged to think about how they can secure wider social benefits from their contracts.
However, a poor understanding of what social value outcomes are and how they can be measured
has limited the impact of the act.
The TOMs framework was developed over 18 months in consultation with The National Social Value
Task Force which was founded in February 2016 in order to establish a good practice framework for
the integration of the Public Services (Social Value Act) 2012 into our public sector and business. The
TOMs framework consists of:

5 THEMES
20 OUTCOMES
48 (core) MEASURES

ONE MEASUREMENT & REPORTING STANDARD

Page 31

Themes
The TOMs are split in to 5 key Social Value Themes:
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)

Jobs: Promoting Local Skills and Employment
Growth: Supporting Growth of Responsible Regional Business
Social: Healthier, Safer and more Resilient Communities
Environment: Decarbonising and Safeguarding our World
Innovation: Promoting Social Innovation

Outcomes
These themes are then expanded into 35 outcomes that are practical and deliverable things that all
organisations across sectors and across industries can relate to and think about delivering on any
kind of project e.g. More local people in employment or Reducing air pollution.

Measures
The measures selected within your set of TOMs will be how you will encourage your supply chain to
meet the outcomes desired.
E.g. If you decided to include the outcome of ‘Reducing air pollution’ you may wish to select the
measure of NT32 (please see the full list of National TOMs). Bidders will be asked how many car
miles they anticipate they can save throughout the contract duration through transport initiatives
such as Cycle to Work schemes.
This will need to be evidenced at the tender stage by including a breakdown of the number of car
miles to be saved and how the car miles will be saved. The baseline used should be specified in the
evidence (i.e. car miles driven before a programme is put in place to reduce car miles driven) as well
as full methodology of the calculation.

Proxy Values
The TOMs work with a set of financial proxies that can be used to put a financial value on the social
value being delivered in a project, some measures have no proxy and this data is recorded and
monitored throughout the contract. The proxy values can be localised to take into account local
factors and multiplier effects to make proxies more appropriate, while keeping the statistics
comparable across bodies.
The proxy value associated with each measure has a rationale and guidance which can be found in
the ‘Definitions & Guidance’ tab within the National TOMs workbook.
The framework is regularly reviewed to ensure the proxy values used are accurate and up to date.

COVID-19 Plug-in
The COVID-19 Plug-in is designed to help organisations respond and adapt to this crisis, helping
them, and the communities they are working with, more resilient as a result. The plug-in is a set of
new COVID-19 measures for new tenders which can be added to or substituted for National TOMs
2020 measures. Implementing these measures will provide a transparent process to help procuring
and reporting organisations monitor how bidders and suppliers can contribute to mitigate these
effects and to respond to the emergency. Please see the attached COVID-19 plug-in.

Page 32

What are the benefits of using the TOMs framework?
1.
2.
3.
4.

Provides a consistent approach to measuring and reporting social value
Allows for continuous improvement
Provides a robust, transparent and defensible solution for assessing and awarding tenders
Allows organisations to compare their own performance by sector and industry benchmarks and
understand what good looks like
5. Reduces the uncertainty surrounding social value measurement for businesses, allowing them to
make informed decisions based on robust quantitative assessments and hence embed social value
into their corporate strategies.

Partnership with the Local Government Association (LGA)
The National Theme’s, Outcomes and Measures are endorsed by the LGA “to help councils to
measure the value they are achieving through implementing the Social Value Act. For more
information and case studies please click the link below
Achieving Community Benefits

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

Theme
Employment &
Skills

Outcomes
Increasing
employment and
training opportunities

LCC Ref NT Ref

LCC1

NT1

LCC2

NT2

RE3

RE3

RE57

RE57

RE58

RE58

LCC59

Measure
No. of local direct employees (FTE) hired on contract for one year or the whole duration of the contract,
whichever is shorter
Percentage of local employees (FTE) on contract
Employer's fairs held to encourage local employment in the area
Percentage of women (FTE) hired on the contract
Percentage of employees (FTE) BAME hired on the contract
Percentage of LGBTQ+ employees (FTE) hired on the contract
No. of employees (FTE) hired on the contract who are long term unemployed (unemployed for a year or
longer) as a result of a recruitment programme

Unit

Proxy Value

No. people FTE

£27,835 Localised for
LEEDS

%
£
%
%
%

Record only
£1.00
Record only
Record only
Record only

No. people FTE

£18,965.00

Page 35

LCC3

NT3

LCC3a

NT3a

No. of armed forces veterans employees (FTE) hired on the contract as a result of a recruitment programme
No. people FTE
who are long term unemployed (unemployed for a year or longer) and are facing specific barriers to
transitioning to civilian employment that do not qualify them as disabled (e.g. long term service)

£18,965.00

LCC4

NT4

No. of employees (FTE) hired on the contract who are Not in Employment, Education, or Training (NEETs) as
No. people FTE
a result of a recruitment programme

£13,636.00

LCC4a

NT4a

No. of 16-25 y.o. care leavers (FTE) hired on the contract as a result of a recruitment programme

No. people FTE

£13,636.00

LCC5

NT5

No. of 18+ y.o. employees (FTE) hired on the contract who are rehabilitating or ex offenders as a result of a
recruitment programme

No. people FTE

£23,119.00

LCC6

NT6

No. of disabled employees (FTE) hired on the contract as a result of a recruitment programme

No. people FTE

£15,166.00

NT6a

No. of armed forces veterans employees (FTE) hired on the contract as a result of a recruitment programme
who are disabled and are facing specific barriers to transitioning to civilian employment (e.g. physical injury,
No. people FTE
medical discharge, psychological condition) No. of armed forces veterans employees (FTE) hired on the
contract as a result of a recruitment programme

£15,166.00

NT7

No. of hours of support into work provided to unemployed people through career mentoring, including mock
session
duration)*no.
interviews, CV advice, and careers guidance -(over 24 y.o.)

LCC10

NT10

No. of weeks of new apprenticeships on the contract that will be supported by the organisation until
completion - Level 2,3, or 4+

No. weeks

£207.40

LCC10a

NT10a

No. of weeks of new apprenticeships on the contract that will be supported by the organisation until
completion - Level 2,3, or 4+ - delivered for groups specified in 'LIST NT10a' (e.g. NEETs, under-represented
gender and ethnic groups, disabled, homeless, rehabilitating young offenders)

No. weeks

£207.40

LCC6a

No. hrs (total
Increasing routes in to
employment

LCC7

£125.62

attendees

Reducing pay
inequalities

Page 36

Education

Environment

Upskilling young
people

Carbon emissions are
reduced

Air pollution is
reduced

Safeguarding the
natural environment
in Leeds

LCC10b

No. of weeks of existing apprenticeshhips on the contract that will be supported by the organisation until
completion - Level 2,3 or 4+.

LCC11

NT11

No. of hours dedicated to support young people into work (e.g. CV advice, mock interviews, careers
guidance) - (under 24 y.o.)

LCC12

NT12

LCC13

NT13

LCC13a

NT13a

LCC41

NT41

LCC42

NT42

LCC58

NT58

LCC8

NT8

RE10

RE10

LCC31

NT31

LCC44

NT44

LCC33

NT33

LCC65

NT65

LCC66

NT66

LCC67

NT67

No. weeks

Record only

No. hrs (total
session
duration)*no.
attendees

£125.62

No. weeks

£158.23

No. weeks

£158.23

No. weeks

£315.00

%

Record only

%

Record only

No. people
(FTE)

£1,396.00

No. staff hours

£16.07

No. of visits

£64.28

Savings in CO2 emissions on contract achieved through de-carbonisation (specify how these are to be
achieved)

Tonnes CO2e

£69.35

Policy and programme to achieve net zero carbon by 2030 including monitoring plan with specific milestones
(issued or to be issued by the end of 2020)

Y/N - Provide
relevant
documents

Record only

Miles driven

£0.02

%
Y/N - Provide
description

Record only

£

£1.00

No. of weeks spent on meaningful work placements or pre-employment course; 1-6 weeks student
placements (unpaid)
Meaningful work placements that pay Minimum or National Living wage according to eligibility - 6 weeks or
more (internships)
Meaningful work placements that pay Real Living wage according to eligibility - 6 weeks or more (internships)
Percentage of staff on contract that is paid at least the relevant Real Living wage as specified by Living Wage
foundation
Percentage of contractors in the supply chain required (or supported if they are micro and small business) to
pay at least Real Living wage
Number of employees FTE on contract to have pay raise to Real living wage or higher (on a renewed contract
or TUPE)
No. of staff hours spent on local school and college visits e.g. delivering careers talks, curriculum support,
literacy support, safety talks (including preparation time)
No. site visits for school children or local residents

Car miles driven using low or no emission staff vehicles included on project as a result of a green transport
programme
Percentage of fleet or construction vehicles on the contract that is at Least Euro 6 or LEV
Fleet emissions monitoring programme on the contract, including data collection (miles, type of vehicle,
engine type, emission standard)

Donations or investments towards initiatives aimed at environmental and biodiversity conservations and
sustainable management projects for both marine and terrestrial ecosystems

Record only

Resource efficiency
and circular economy
solutions are
promoted

Be sustainable, fair
and ethical

RE48a

RE48a

Volunteering with environmental conservation initiatives or engagement in multi-stakeholder and advocacy
initiatives around environmental conservation and sustainable ecosystem management - resources invested
including time, funds and in-kind contributions

LCC70

NT70

Single-use plastic packaging eliminated through reusable packaging solutions or schemes (e.g. Loop or
equivalent) on the contract

RE66

RE66

Waste management verification policies: audit hierarchy, downstream audits for waste stream

RE43

RE43

RE45

RE45

M3 water saved against relevant benchmark (e.g. REEB)
Tonnes waste diverted against relevant benchmark (e.g. REEB)

LCC49

LCC50

£1.00

Kilos

Record only

Y/N - Provide
description
mᶾ
Tonnes

Record only
Record only
Record only

NT49

Requirements or support (for Micro or Small enterprises) for suppliers to demonstrate climate change and
carbon reduction training for all staff - e.g. SDGs Academy courses (NTs) or (e.g. RE) Supply Chain
Sustainability School bronze or higher or equivalent

No. hrs (total
session
duration)*no.
attendees

£96.11

NT50

£ invested including staff
time
(volunteering
valued at
£16.07 per
Innovative measures to promote local skills and employment to be delivered on the contract - these could be
hours, expert
e.g. co-designed with stakeholders or communities, or aiming at delivering benefits while minimising carbon
time valued at
footprint from initiatives, etc.
£96.11 per
hour) and
materials,
equipment or
other
resources

£1.00

Page 37
Innovation:
Social innovation to
Promoting Social create local skills and
Innovation
employment

£ invested
including staff
time

LCC50a

Page 38

Social innovation to
support responsible
business

LCC51

NT51

Innovative ways to collaborate with, participate in and contribute to research projects involving local
universities and other centres of higher education.

£ invested including staff
time
(volunteering
valued at
£16.07 per
hours, expert
time valued at
£96.11 per
hour) and
materials,
equipment or
other
resources

£1.00

Innovative measures to promote and support responsible business to be delivered on the contract - these
could be e.g. co-designed with stakeholders or communities, or aiming at delivering benefits while
minimising carbon footprint from initiatives, etc.

£ invested including staff
time
(volunteering
valued at
£16.07 per
hours, expert
time valued at
£96.11 per
hour) and
materials,
equipment or
other
resources

£1.00

Social innovation to
safeguard the
environment and
respond to the climate
emergency

Page 39

Growth:
Supporting
Spending the Leeds £
Growth of
in Leeds
Responsible
Regional Business

LCC53

LCC18

LCC18a

NT53

NT18

NT18a

£ invested including staff
time
(volunteering
valued at
£16.07 per
Innovative measures to safeguard the environment and respond to the climate emergency to be delivered on
hours, expert
the contract - these could be e.g. co-designed with stakeholders or communities, or aiming at delivering
time valued at
benefits while minimising carbon footprint from initiatives, etc.
£96.11 per
hour) and
materials,
equipment or
other
resources

Total amount (£) spent in LOCAL supply chain through the contract

Total amount (£) spent through the contract in specified sub-localities (e.g. high deprivation areas) - please
refer to list NT18a for the qualifying areas

£1.00

£

£0.906 multiplier for
Leeds,
CONSTRUCTION
- needs to be
customised by
industry and
local area

£

£0.906 multiplier for
Leeds,
CONSTRUCTION
- needs to be
customised by
industry and
selected sublocalities (as in
LIST NT18a)

LCC19

Page 40

Working in
partnership with
others

Social: Healthier,
Safer and more Improving health &
Resilient
quality of life
Communities

NT19

Total amount (£) spent through contract with LOCAL micro, small and medium enterprises (MSMEs)

£

£0.906 multiplier for
Leeds,
CONSTRUCTION
- needs to be
customised by
industry and
locality

LCC19a

NT19a

Total amount (£) spent with local Micro and Small enterprises within your supply chain through the contract

£

£0.906 multiplier for
Leeds,
CONSTRUCTION
- needs to be
customised by
industry and
locality

LCC14

NT14

Total amount (£) spent with local VCSEs within your supply chain

£

£0.12

LCC15

NT15

Provision of expert business advice to VCSEs and MSMEs (e.g. financial advice / legal advice / HR advice/HSE)

No. staff
expert hours

£96.11

LCC16

NT16

Equipment or resources donated to VCSEs (£ equivalent value)

LCC17

NT17

Number of voluntary hours donated to support VCSEs (excludes expert business advice)

C19-5

C19-5

Provide support for SMEs and VCSEs to respond to the COVID-19 crisis and maintain business operations hours of expert support provided by staff

LCC26

NT26

Support initiatives, third sector organisations and community projects to engage local people to the contract
£ invested
including staff
with healthy living and wellbeing initiatives and activities (e.g. physical activity sessions for children and
time
adults)

LCC20

NT20

No. of employees on the contract that have access for at least 12 months to holistic wellbeing programmes
such as flexible working arrangements, healthy living initiatives, physical activity programmes and health
questionnaires/surveys

LCC39

NT39

Initiatives to promote positive mental health within the workforce through a progressive work environment,
running mental health awareness campaigns and challenging the stigma surrounding mental ill health, whilst
linking with Mindful Employer initiative

£
No. staff
volunteering
hours
No. staff
expert hours

£1.00
£16.07
£96.11

£1.00

No. employees
provided
access

£124.30

£

£1.00

Building strong
communities

Be sustainable, fair
and ethical

£ invested
including staff
time

£1.00

Provide direct support (e.g. funding, provision of facilities or in kind donations) to community-led initiatives,
organisations and projects local to the contract, including those supporting marginalised people

£ value

£1.00

NT29

No. of hours of staff volunteering time to participate in local community projects, third sector organisations
and local support networks in the area of the contract.

No. staff
volunteering
hours

£16.07

NT43

Number and type of initiatives throughout the supply chain to identify and manage the risks of modern
slavery occurring (i.e. supply chain mapping, staff training, contract management) in relation to the contract
(describe and document initiatives)

£

£1.00

LCC24

NT24

Support to community-led initiatives aimed at building safer neighbourhoods local to the contract

LCC28

NT28

LCC29

LCC43

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Report author: Graham Sephton
Tel: 0113 3787718 / 3789343

Report of Director of Resources and Housing
Report to Resources and Strategy Scrutiny Board
Date: 15th February 2021
Subject: Improving the experience and outcomes of Black, Asian and Minority
Ethnic colleagues at Leeds City Council
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number: 10.4(3)

Summary
1. Main issues


In July 2020, the disproportionate impact of Covid 19 and the growing Black Lives
Matter movement highlighted a broad range of issues for Black, Asian and Minority
Ethnic (BAME) colleagues working in the Council, some new and many
longstanding.



Our BAME Staff Network called for urgent action, and a chance to meet with CLT to
share their experiences and work together to bring about positive change.



The Council’s strong track record on inclusion and commitment to fairness and
equality is clear. The call to action from BAME colleagues has provided a further
opportunity to reflect on how far we have come, and play a strong and visible role
as a lead employer on this agenda.



Scrutiny Board has asked for an update. This report outlines the renewed
commitment made by the council and the initial joint action plan that has been
created.



Thoughts relating to longer term plans and priorities for 2021/22 are also shared.

2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


Our People Strategy 2020-25 sets out our ambition to be the Best Place to Work
with a clear focus on creating a great all round employee experience for all staff,

Page 43

with the support of their leaders and managers working in a positive organisational
culture, driven by our council values.


Inclusion sits at the heart of our People Strategy – we strive to ensure that all
employees can be their best and are treated fairly.

3. Resource Implications


The Council employs 2065 BAME employees (December 2020), which represents
14% of the council’s overall workforce. At senior levels in the council, 11% of
colleagues identify as BAME. The overall representation (at different grades) varies
across our directorates.

Recommendations
a) Resources and Strategy Scrutiny Board is asked to:
I.

Note the contents of this report.

II.

Note the Joint Commitment and Activity Plan that has been created to
support this work.

III.

Receive further updates and reports as this important work progresses.

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

To provide Resources and Strategy Scrutiny Board with an update on the joint
commitment from Corporate Leadership Team and our BAME Staff Network to
improve the work experience and outcomes for BAME colleagues at Leeds City
Council.

2.

Background information

2.1

The BAME Staff Network issued a position statement and call to action in July
2020. Since then, Corporate Leadership Team have collectively met with BAME
colleagues on three occasions, initially to listen to experiences, concerns and
challenges, and more recently, to build action plans and monitor progress.

2.3

The BAME Staff Network have conducted a survey of BAME colleagues in the
council. The results will be shared in February 2021 – 800 employees responded.
This will be complemented by further focus groups to reach out to as many staff as
possible. We will continue to seek out and use staff feedback to refine our
understanding and response.

2.4

Capturing a ‘single view’ to represent all BAME staff is a flawed notion, and there is
no substitute for on the ground engagement with as many individuals as possible.
Everyone is different, and has their own unique set of experiences to share. Our
BAME Staff Network, however, does act as a representative group on behalf of the
BAME staff community, and is in touch with how many BAME colleagues are
currently feeling.

Page 44

3.

Main issues

3.1

The Joint Commitment and Activity Plan

3.1.1 A Joint Commitment to stand against all forms of racism and inequality in our
council and our city has been agreed between Corporate Leadership Team and the
BAME Staff Network. This has support and endorsement from the Leader of the
Council, and can be viewed here.
3.1.2 The commitment to all BAME colleagues is to:







Do more to listen to and understand your real lived experiences at work
Not shy away from uncomfortable and challenging conversations, nor ignore
hard truths
Do all we can to eliminate racism and inequality – wherever we find it
Deliver immediate and long term change by creating the plan together, and
keeping your issues high on the agenda
Expect everyone in the council to play their part – this is a whole
#TeamLeeds effort, and there will be allies right across the organisation
working with you for change
Take a zero tolerance approach to racism in the workplace and within the
communities we serve, taking all allegations of racism seriously. We will
challenge and address inappropriate behaviour.

3.1.3 The impact and outcomes we aim to achieve include:





Trust across the organisation to speak up
Better progression and development
A more representative workforce
Reduced racism and a better everyday experience.

3.1.4 A short term activity plan has been agreed, and this has ensured that early and
important action is being taken. It is directly based on the feedback from BAME
colleagues and has guided work at corporate level and also at local service level. A
Task and Finish group has been in place to oversee this work, and positive
progress is being made.
3.1.5 Black History Month and Wear Red Day (Show Racism the Red Card) in autumn
2020 provided valuable opportunities to highlight our work and create cross council
awareness and engagement.
3.1.6 Our activity plan themes are shown in the table below.

Areas covered in our jointly agreed activity plan
Each Director to take personal responsibility for
To show that we have strong leadership from the top
action across their services, based on the lived
and action takes place in all teams to improve the
experiences of BAME colleagues in their teams. This everyday experience for all BAME colleagues.
will be backed by visible support from Members.

Page 45

Share the CLT/BAME Joint statement and activity
plan far and wide
Lead an urgent review to look into the experiences
of BAME staff who raise claims of racism (including
the Grievance process)

Take a zero tolerance approach to racism in the
workplace
Work with the network to monitor the impact of
service reviews on the BAME community

Conduct a survey with all BAME staff in the council

Implement checks to ensure Covid Risk Assessments
are happening for BAME colleagues

Create more diverse and representative recruitment
and selection panels

Explore bringing anonymised shortlisting into our
recruitment and selection process (this is where
personal information is withheld from candidate
applications)
Increase the number of BAME colleagues who take
on the role of ‘decision makers’ in formal meetings
and casework.
Build a strong and active network of Allies across the
organisation
Review the information that we produce relating to
BAME workforce issues, in all aspects of
employment.
Review progression and development opportunities
for BAME staff

Deliver inclusion events and training throughout the
year, and be confident that it is reaching all teams.

Work with and learn from others

Page 46

To put BAME issues at the top of our priority list, and
keep it there. Making sure the message and
expectations get through.
So that we are confident that all cases are taken
seriously and we improve the support people get in
these circumstances. We want to ensure people feel
safe to speak out, and trust the organisation when
they do.
To reduce the level of racism that staff experience,
and to send a strong message that we will not tolerate
any forms of abuse towards our staff.
To check how BAME staff and citizens are affected by
council wide and directorate level service reviews, and
make sure we consider the full equality implications of
any proposed changes.
To give all 2000+ BAME colleagues across the council a
chance to have a say on life at the council, and hear
more valuable lived experiences to shape our work.
The BAME network has helped to develop the risk
assessment tool and its implementation – to make
sure that it is being used at the right time and in the
right way and is helping to protect BAME staff.
To make sure our panels are a diverse mix of people
and this facilitates fairness in decisions. It will also
send a positive message to applicants to help develop
trust.
To see how it could help us to reduce any
discrimination and bias in the initial shortlisting stage.

So that decision makers in our disciplinary, grievance
and appeals process are more representative.
So that non-BAME colleagues are seen to stand
alongside BAME colleagues and work together for
positive change.
So we have the best dataset so that we can track the
progress we are making. We want to report at a more
granular level, monitoring outcomes for all the
different groups that make up the BAME community.
To assess what the council currently has on offer and
how good the take up and representation is for BAME
colleagues, but also to listen to ideas around what
more we can do in this area – from work placements,
apprenticeships and new entry levels to management
and senior leadership.
To raise the awareness, understanding of all staff. To
ensure that all staff act as strong ambassadors around
inclusion, and have the knowledge and skills they
need.
To draw on the expertise, support and resources of
partner organisations, and others with this shared
endeavour - locally, regionally and beyond.

3.2 Taking this work forward – future plans and approach
3.2.1 Whilst the activity plan above has helped to deliver immediate actions, there is
clearly a longer term programme of work required. To aid this longer term work, the
BAME Staff Network have put forward a draft 2021/22 Plan. Corporate Leadership
Team will continue to act as sponsors, and appropriate governance arrangements
are being discussed. Once finalised, the plan and delivery approach can be shared
with Scrutiny.
3.2.2 All of the work from the initial and immediate plan that we have being using to date,
will be integrated into the new longer term version, as appropriate.
3.2.3 The results of the BAME staff survey (due in February) will give us further insight
around the everday experiences of our staff. Listening events at service level will
also continue.
3.2.4 In December, the West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care partnership
released the report findings of an independent review into health inequalities due to
Covid19, and the impact on BAME communities and colleagues. There are
recommendations which relate to workforce and the wider community. The Council
is currently setting out its own contribution and next steps, and there are strong
connections to our internal LCC BAME Network plan.
3.2.5 Leeds City Council has joined a number of local authorities in pioneering a new
Social Care Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES). This will help us explore
whether or not they are fully achieving race equality in the workplace. A key
element of the WRES will be a focus on data analysis and measuring impact to
drive improvement for our workforce. There is potential for this work to inform our
evidence based approach to change across all areas of the council, not just in
social care.
3.2.6 Leeds City Council also continues to engage with its partners, including the Anchor
Institutions, the Health & Social Care Academy, NHS and other networks, to share
its policy and practice, learn from others and augment its impact across the city and
its communities.
4

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 Listening to the lived experiences of all BAME colleagues is fundamental to driving
positive change. As set out in the joint commitment, all members of the workforce
will be expected to play their role too.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 2020 has been an incredibly challenging year which has deeply affected BAME
communities, including here in Leeds. It is vital that we continue to ensure that
there remains a relentless focus deliver on our commitment as a council to improve
the experiences of our BAME workforce.
Page 47

4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 Inclusion underpins the delivery of the Best Council Plan, our People Strategy 202025 and Best Place to Work ambitions.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 The business case for inclusion and diversity is stronger than ever. It directly
impacts on team performance and creativity, service reputation and reach,
relationships with communities and partners, talent attraction and retention. There
are clear benefits for getting it right, and significant consequences and lost
opportunities for not doing so.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 There are no legal implications related to this report.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 A stronger accountability and governance framework is currently being developed to
support delivery in 2021/22.
5

Recommendations

5.1

Resources and Strategy Scrutiny Board is asked to:
I. Note the contents of this report.
II. Note the Joint Commitment and Activity Plan that has been created to support
this work.
III. Receive further updates and reports as this important work progresses.

6

Background documents1

6.1

None.

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
1

Page 48

Agenda Item 10

Report author: Mark Mills
Tel: 0113 3787718
LeoFarrell09

Report of Director of City Development
Report to Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board
Date: 15th February 2021
Subject: Future Ways of Working and Workplace Realisation
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

Summary
1. Main issues


The Council has c8,000 desk based staff many of whom since 2012 have been
taken through the Changing the Workplace Programme to allow them to work from
home and other locations, and therefore reduce the amount of desk space required
within our estate. As the first COVID-19 national lockdown was announced in
March 2020, all of these staff took to working from home for all of their working
week, facilitated by the equipment and technology distributed through the changing
the workplace programme and IT infrastructure upgrades.



The COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated a number of trends including changes to
the way staff are working, the way services can be delivered and therefore the
expectations and requirements of our estate. Additional drivers for change are the
financial pressures that the Council is facing as well as the need to ensure that we
minimise our carbon footprint as we seek to become carbon neutral by 2030.



We therefore anticipate that in the future there will be more blended and flexible
working patterns; greater partnership working; a more distributed workforce; a
stronger focus on staff wellbeing and an even greater and evolving use of digital
technology. This will mean that the workplace will have a new focus and that we
will need fewer buildings.



Leeds City Council is the largest property owner in the city with an estate
comprising of c700 individual operational buildings excluding schools and housing,
of which 200 support front line service provision in the form of Children’s Centres,

Page 49

Community Hubs, Libraries, Leisure Centres and Museums or provide office
accommodation for c8,000 office based staff.


To address our future ways of working and changing service delivery requirements
we will continue to remodel and reduce the size of our estate, which is the focus of
this paper, to ensure we have an optimum operation footprint to support service
delivery.

2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


The Council’s land and buildings facilitates a range of service delivery and therefore
contributes to the objectives, outcomes and priorities set out in the Best Council
Plan, Inclusive Growth Strategy and Health and Well Being Strategy. The rightsizing
and remodelling of the Council’s estate supports the Best Council ambition to be ‘an
efficient, enterprising and healthy organisation’.



In addition, having a smaller, better maintained and more flexible and efficient
estate will reduce the Council’s Carbon footprint by reducing the energy demand
across our buildings but also through reducing the need for staff to travel as far to a
workplace or to carry out their duties. Good quality workspace and facilities will
also support people to be their best.

3. Resource Implications


The current and future budget pressures is one of the key considerations of the
remodelling and rightsizing of our operational estate along with our service deliver
plans and the climate emergency. The aim is for the Council to have a sustainable,
efficient, well maintained and well utilised estate which supports services to be
delivered efficiently and effectively to residents across the city.

Recommendations
a) Scrutiny Board is asked to:
I.

Note the contents of this report.

II.

Comment and advise on the proposed approach to remodelling our office
buildings and ensuring the most effective utilisation of our wider operational
estate.

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

This report follows on from reports to Scrutiny Board in November 2020 and
January about the way in which staff will work and services will be delivered in the
future, and the technology and digital development offer to support this. This paper
provides details around how our estate will support these changes.

2.

Background information

2.1

Leeds City Council has a large operational estate with over 700 operational
buildings of which 200 provide front line service provision or office accommodation.
This includes Children’s Centres, Homes for Older People, Adult Day Centres,
Community Hubs, Libraries, Community Centres, Leisure Centres, Museums,

Page 50

events venues. Our operational buildings also equate to around 60% of the
Council’s carbon footprint.
2.2

Since 2010, the Council has made good progress in rationalising its estate and
leveraging its assets to support the Council’s priorities. As outlined to Scrutiny
Board in November, this has been delivered through the established Changing the
Workplace programme which has facilitated the delivery of key buildings such as
Merrion House, Albion House in Yeadon and Kernel House/ Killingbeck Court, and
through wider partnership working. In particular, the delivery of integrated Health
and Care teams across the city as a partnership between the Council and health
partners including Leeds Community Health and the NHS has seen staff across
organisations sharing space within our buildings and partner workspaces.

2.3

The principles of the Changing the Workplace programme were around a more
agile approach to work with staff able to work remotely from home or other
locations, and crucially moving away from individual staff having their own fixed
desk to an average of 10 members staff sharing 6 desks. This and a programme
of IT infrastructure and equipment upgrades provided the resilience for over 8,000
staff to swiftly pivot to work from home from the beginning of the first national
COVID-19 lockdown. In addition the pandemic has been a catalyst for a range of
service delivery changes to allow the continuation of services during periods of
national and local restrictions. As the pandemic has continued, these changes
have become more embedded and the need for a wider ranging reviews has
emerged which will help to support the Council’s financial position which has also
been heavily impacted by the pandemic, but crucially will mean that our estate
requirements will be very different in the future as the Council has rapidly adopted
greater digital skills and technologies.

2.4

In January, the report to Scrutiny Board about our future ways of working outlined a
number of considerations in determining our future policies and approaches.
However, there is a balance to be struck between what is good for individual
members of staff, service need and corporate requirements, and what the Council is
able to provide in terms of technology and workspaces.

2.5

This paper focuses on how our estate will support these changes whilst also
delivering savings to support the Council’s position and respond to the climate
emergency.

3.

Main issues

3.1

As outlined to Scrutiny Board previously, in March 2020 at the outset of the first
national lockdown, a great deal of work was undertaken to close down buildings
which were not required given the large number of staff working from home but also
due to services having to redefine the way they worked in order to continue to
deliver front line services. As the Government introduced COVID Secure standards,
a programme of delivery was undertaken to ensure compliance across our open
estate, which remains in place and is reviewed in light of any changes to guidance
issued. However, the way in which we utilise and occupy buildings will never return
to the format of March 2020.

3.2

A number of Pulse Surveys have been undertaken along with an extensive staff
survey in Summer 2020 which identified that in the future around 80% of staff had a
Page 51

desire to spend at least half of their working week working from home, whilst a little
over half of respondents wanted to work from home permanently. As enforced
working from home has continued, we have anecdotal evidence that sentiment has
understandably shifted slightly towards less time at home. We will again test this as
part of further staff engagement planned for the coming months.
3.3

In November/ December a number of staff focus groups were undertaken with staff
in City Development to better understand their thoughts about how they will work in
the future. Whilst continued agile and home working was still supported, the
importance of the workplace was also identified to support wellbeing, staff
development and team bonding, but also to support collaborative working to bring
forward creative solutions, mentoring and team knowledge. However, the
overarching conclusion was that the team rather than the space was the destination
point.

3.4

Individual choice must be balanced with service requirements and council wide
resource. As well as consideration towards the consequences for wider city
wellbeing. These consideration are consistent with those being considered by both
public and private sector organisations across the country as the long term impacts
of the pandemic begins to be understood.

3.5

In the future there will be an expectation that staff will regularly come into the
workplace to support team cohesion and staff development, albeit not necessarily
for desk based activities. However, this will vary between services but it is unlikely
this will for many be more than 2 days a week. For staff who require more time in the
workplace for health and wellbeing reasons, space will continue to be made
available given the challenges that some people will inevitably have with a more
agile working culture.

3.6

Whilst subject to further consideration and engagement with staff, we see the
following as core components of our future working approach:

3.7

A further key area of change and development which will influence our workspaces
is around the planned upgrades to our digital infrastructure. The primary focus for
this is the roll out of Microsoft 365 which will provide not only upgraded office
software but also new and enhanced digital collaboration opportunities. As part of
M365 there will be an early phased migration to Microsoft Teams to replace the
Skype platform. This will become the Council’s default virtual meeting platform and
will transform the online meeting experience for many staff across the organisation.
However, there will continue to be a need for continued access to other platforms to
effectively engage with communities, partners and other organisations.
Page 52

3.8

In addition, the Core Services Review will deliver substantial process changes to
some areas of the Council’s activity which remain heavily paper based. This too will
lead to changes in the way staff work and our estate requirements. Furthermore,
during the pandemic there has been a shift in the way that members of the public
have accessed Council Services, with the greater use of on-line and telephone
facilities. This is particularly notable in relation to customer access which will lead to
longer term changes for our estate requirements.

How will our estate respond?
3.9

There are therefore a number of key drivers which guide the future size, shape and
use of our estate:
 Our ways of working
 Service delivery requirements
 Our financial pressures
 The Climate Emergency

3.10 Whilst the Changing the Workplace journey has led to substantial changes to the
way some of our office buildings have been used, this has not been universal and as
a result of the drivers set out above and the factors and principles outlined in this
paper, this programme of refurbishment and activity will evolve.
3.11 Whilst the detail is still being worked through, it is paramount that we drive better
utilisation into our estate and therefore it is essential that we consider all of our
buildings and not only our existing office locations when reviewing future use.
3.12 In doing so there are some emerging key principles for our future estate:
 Team Space: The team is the destination not the building, therefore
Directorates/ Services will have a dedicated ‘Team space’ in multi
occupied buildings or a locational base;
 Geographical Choice: Staff will be able to use more buildings and
workspaces across the city in a more flexible way to support their work,
which will have the benefit of reducing travel demands both in terms of
commuting but also that is required for work purposes;
 Greater Collaboration Space: There will be a greater proportion of our
retained floorspace laid out in a way which facilitates collaborative
working – a working targeting being 60% of our total floorspace with a
corresponding reduction in the amount of pure desk space; and
 Booking: A principle of booking both desk and collaborative spaces
across the estate utilising an online booking system which has been
developed initially as a response to meeting COVID Secure
requirements. This will consider capacities and critically utilisation so
spaces can me better managed by real time data.

Collaborative Spaces
3.13 One of the most significant changes for the estate is the proposed move towards
greater areas of space given over to collaborative working. As set out at paragraph
3.3, there was a strong emphasis from the focus groups already held for
collaboration space to support every day work. However, this demonstrated that
Page 53

collaboration means different things to different people, and the expectations of our
workspace will be wide ranging, but will extend from informal co-working, training
support, small group discussions or 1-2-1 meetings through to larger workshops,
events and formal meetings and training. As such, spaces need to be adaptable to
accommodate this range of requirements. In addition, it is recognised that there will
be substantial demand particularly in some service areas to undertake work of a
confidential nature including confidential telephone calls. This means that our
workspace need to cater for a wide range of uses presenting a challenge in how this
flexibility can be delivered over time within a decreasing estate footprint, providing
similar opportunities both in the city centre and for those whose work is more locality
based.
3.14 Internationally recognised architects and designers, BDP, who specialise in
workplace and health space and advised on the refurbishment and development of
Merrion House, have provided specialist support to develop design concepts around
how our accommodation can be changed to address these challenges. Their initial
focus has been on Merrion House to test the proposition, but their work has
expanded to provide advice on areas within the core office estate and develop
principles for buildings outside the city centre. They have helped us to break down
and understand our requirements and have identified the following characteristics
which can be seen as key success factors in developing collaborative areas:








Inviting – Spaces must be attractive and draw people to use them.
Comfortable – The furniture used needs to be comfortable and
practical.
Variety – there needs to be a range of different types of spaces and
furniture available to suit our wide ranging work requirements.
Dividable – to maximise utilisation of the precious space we have it
must facilitate small group and individual use and be scalable to allow
larger events and workshops.
Flexible - our workspace must be able to accommodate a range of
uses by different cohorts of staff, partners and in some cases the
community and external organisations.
High-tech – The spaces need to be ‘tech’ enabled, but the requirements
will vary between the different types of spaces available.
Low-tech – some people will find that they get the most out of
discussions where flip charts and post it notes are used for example
and this must also be accommodated.

3.15 As outlined above, the Council’s technology and IT infrastructure is changing, all of
which will create new and better collaboration opportunities. However, our meeting
rooms and collaborative spaces need particular consideration to ensure that they
are compatible and consistent with our broader IT offer. This means that video
conferencing technology already available will need to migrate to support meetings
by Microsoft Teams as the default meeting platform but also provide access to other
platforms such as Zoom. In addition the ‘digital’ offer within the new collaborative
spaces is being scoped to support more effective collaboration both in place and
through hybrid options. This will likely mean the introduction of more interactive
technology such as digital whiteboards and the more widespread use of apps and
software to capture ideas and creativity as it happens and provide the same
experience whether you are in the space on participating virtually.
Page 54

3.16 There is a particular focus on the ‘hybrid’ meeting concept which is where meetings
may take place with a number of people in one location and others joining via their
own devices from home and other workspaces. This is standard practice for
working with geographical dispersed partners. Whilst this has happened in the past,
the experience was often not sufficient for people who were ‘outside the room’, and
this needs to be addressed given that the pendulum for those joining remotely vs
those in the room will swing constantly for different meetings. To deliver hybrid
meetings effectively this will require the right technology, space and personal skills.
Part of the solution is around how meetings are chaired and the protocols adopted
for joining and contributing to discussions and some of the solution lies in the
technology, including location of microphones and acoustics of meeting spaces to
ensure good sound quality for those joining remotely. This will be worked through in
the coming months and will continue to be reviewed in response to user experience,
however, HR and DIS will be leading a training programme to ensure these meeting
are as effective as possible.
3.17 In response to the BDP work, a prototype collaboration space was delivered in
Merrion House in Summer 2020. This adopted the principles set out above and has
allowed early staff engagement about the space. This has been received extremely
positively and on this basis a longer term roll out of these test spaces is phased over
the course of the next 18 months across the city is to be delivered as detailed in
Appendix 1. In the early phases this will utilise furniture that we already have within
our estate, but it is recognised that in order to ensure that staff can work in the most
effective way, some investment will be required in both technology and furniture to
optimise the utilisation and flexibility of our buildings. All learning will be then taken
into the future phases and we will constantly adjust spaces to respond to user
feedback.
‘Home Spaces’ and Work Space booking
3.18 Through the staff engagement and the ongoing focus groups, the need for teams to
have space to come together in one location for desk based activities has come
through strongly. This not only allows for the sharing of information but also
supports learning and development particularly for apprentices and newer members
of staff. To support this, each directorate will be allocated ‘Home Space’ which they
then manage across their services, but the overarching principle will be that all
desks and larger collaboration spaces will be bookable and that there will be a
proportion of unallocated touch down desks to support this provision. This is
essential given that there will be a lower proportion of space to support desk based
activities available as they make way for the new collaborative working.
3.19 A space booking app has been developed to facilitate this which is available through
the Council’s intranet pages. This was originally developed to support the Council to
deliver a COVID Secure workplace, but can easily be expanded to cover
workspaces across our estate. This will be developed further not only provide good
functionality to staff and facilitate a more agile and flexible approach to working, but
will also allow us to better understand the utilisation of our workspaces, which will
support further review, changes, potential future investment, or release of buildings.

Testing our workspace and working principles
Page 55

3.20 Since autumn 2020, work has been ongoing with social work teams to explore
opportunities for them to move from outdated and underutilised buildings at Hunslet
Hall in Beeston and Hough Lane in Bramley into fit for purpose accommodation,
currently proposed to be Adams Court in Hunslet, which will take on-board the
principles outlined above. This work will deliver a transformational change in how
the teams and individual staff are supported to work and the type of workspace they
have. This is being embraced by the teams involved and will allow us to test and
critically adapt our new and emerging working principles and translate to better
support front line service areas as they are implemented over the months to come.
Flexibility and utilisation of our estate
3.21 In addition to the underutilisation of our estate, the Council’s financial pressures and
climate emergency response are key considerations which underpin our estate
remodel and rationalisation plans. The current list of buildings to be retained for
workspace provision can be found at Appendix 2, although this remains under
review as we work through the potential release of buildings, and opportunities that
may emerge through wider service reviews. The list been drawn together on the
basis of ensuring a good geographical spread of buildings, but also on the
sustainability, running cost, level of recent investment and condition, and are the
buildings where remodelling work as set out in this paper and at Appendix 1 will be
delivered on a phased basis.
3.22 Historically our buildings have been underutilised on both Monday’s and Fridays
with the busiest times being Tuesdays and Wednesdays. If we are to achieve the
aspirations set out in this paper, staff and teams will need to be more flexible and
make fuller use of the times at which they access buildings to ensure that we
improve utilisation and that everyone has the opportunity to access workspaces.
3.23 Our vision is also to ensure complete flexibility for staff across our workspaces,
allowing the opportunity to access any of our core buildings for touch down,
meetings and collaboration, all supported through the space booking app. This will
allow staff to access facilities closer to where they live without the need to travel to
their ‘home space’ every time they need to access workspace, but also to utilise
spaces close to site or home visits being made. This has the potential to reduce not
only travel demand in connection with work but also commuting. Equally our
buildings will provide rest areas, meeting and welfare facilities for those staff who
are not ‘desk based’ providing greater levels of inclusion and connection with the
organisation.
3.24 The increased flexibility and utilisation of locality workspaces will support the
economic wellbeing of our town and district centres. The increased throughput of
staff and visitors to these buildings is anticipated to have an increase in spend within
the locality particularly within convenience shops, sandwich and coffee shops and
other service providers. This will support the Inclusive Growth of the city and small
businesses within communities. The continued emphasis of our City Centre estate
will also continue to bring the Council’s staff into the city centre supporting city
centre business, this being particularly important in the context of the city centre
emerging from the economic impact of the pandemic.
3.25 Our focus on increased utilisation does not stop at our existing workspaces. As
Scrutiny Board is aware, a large number of service reviews have been undertaken
Page 56

or are progressing to explore how service provision may change in the future. This
will inevitably have an impact upon our estate, but equally we want to ensure that
the utilisation of facilities such as leisure centres, museums and adult day centres is
maximised to help to sustain these important facilities.
3.26 To support this, a review of assets across the city is underway to explore
opportunities to create additional workspaces within some of these front line
buildings which will help to support the release of other buildings, or the provision of
better quality spaces for community use and work with partners. This again will
support the creation of a range of workspaces, but also facilities which may be used
more flexibly and potentially providing additional income generation opportunities.
This could facilitate the release of further inefficient, poor quality buildings allowing
us to have an overall better quality and more cost effective estate.
3.27 Partnership working is particularly important and we already share some of our
buildings with other organisations such as the Police, Leeds Community Health and
the third sector. Opportunities to further this trend will continue to be explored as
well as the way in which we can provide greater flexibility across the public sector
estate, avoiding the duplication of facilities between organisations within the same
geographic area. This is not straight forward due to the timing of lease events and
ownership of properties as well as funding available to support remodelling and
repurposing of properties, but is an area of focus as we seek to identify future
efficiencies.
Estate Rationalisation
3.28 From the evidence we have from the multiple staff surveys and the focus groups, we
have a working target of a 50% reduction in our core office space and the work set
out in this paper has so far allowed us to identify 17 workplaces to be explored for
release over the course of the next 2 years. It is anticipated that this will be added to
as additional opportunities as set out in this paper emerge. During the course of the
last year the release of 6 properties has been progressed. Highlights include:


Shire View in Headingley which was previously occupied by the
Children’s and Families Directorate and was vacated as a result of staff
working in different ways, and utilising alternative Council owned and
partner spaces. This allowed the property to be sold with completion in
September 2020 for £1 million.
 St George House which has not reopened since Lockdown One in march
2020, is one of the Council’s city centre offices is also proposed for
release due to underutilisation and greater remote working with the
property being transferred into the Council’s Investment Property
Portfolio for the potential lease out to a third party.
 Hough Top in Pudsey which was closed in early 2020 as staff moved
towards more agile ways of working and space being utilised within city
centre buildings. The site is now being brought forward for residential
redevelopment.

3.29 Further notable properties being released from operational use in the 2020/21
financial year are Woodsley Green Offices in Woodhouse; South Pudsey Centre;
and the former Bramley Housing Office as outlined to Executive Board on 10th
February and are being brought forward for disposal, as well as Millshaw Offices

Page 57

which provide opportunities for wider regeneration opportunities as part of the White
Rose Office growth proposals.
3.30 Work is underway to explore the release of 9 properties identified for 2021/22. This
involves working with the Directorates and Services located within buildings to
identify any bespoke requirements beyond the offer outlined in this paper, so that
new home spaces can be found and any individual staff adjustments can be
considered. As the outcome of this feasibility work is understood, the release of
these properties will be the subject of future decisions, with the vacated properties
then supporting the Council’s Capital Receipt Programme or other priority
programmes where they are suitable, and there is a clear justification and delivery
programme.
3.31 The outcome of service reviews and associated consultations also has the potential
to bring forward additional properties for release. This may provide opportunities for
wider estate reconfiguration dependent upon the condition and location of
properties. We will continue where possible to seek to retain and utilise our best
quality and most sustainable buildings. This means that should a service take a
decision to come out of a building which could be pivoted to other service delivery or
workspace uses in a cost effective way, the scope for this to allow the release of
other established but poorer quality buildings will be explored. This could mean
more substantive changes to our estate as we constantly respond to wider
organisational changes and ensure that our buildings continually evolve and
respond. In doing so we will ensure that any changes are delivered through
continued staff engagement and seek to deliver better outcomes for service users
and communities.
4. Corporate considerations
4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 In June, the Council undertook a survey of all 8,000 staff who were working from
home. Over 5,000 responses were received. As set out in the main section of this
report, further engagement is proposed as our future ways of working are further
refined and to seek views about the changes to our estate as they are rolled out. In
addition in December 2020 a series of focus groups were held to explore the
request to use work space for collaboration. Further focus groups will be
established of the early to test emerging options and work space planning.
4.1.2 Where buildings are being considered for permanent operational closure, work with
Directorates is taking place to facilitate vacant possession and ensure any specific
activities which have particular processes, equipment or building requirements can
be resolved to avoid service delivery impact. Through a coordinated governance
approach working with Human Resources, early consultation and engagement will
take place with Trade Unions about potential changes to our estate and associated
working practices.
4.1.4 Ward members will be consulted on any property disposals or alternative re-use
proposals and should any development proposals be brought forward by new
owners which require planning consent, there is a statutory period of consultation
required as part of the planning process.

Page 58

4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 An Equality Diversity Cohesion and Integration screening form has been completed.
Whilst there are no specific EDCI impacts resulting from the rationalisation
approach as these will be considered by services, any building changes have the
opportunity to enhance EDCI. The building changes delivered to date, including
those seen as part of the refurbishment of Merrion House has established some
clear principles around the facilities provided across our city centre estate and it is
proposed to roll these out in an appropriate way as the rationalisation programme
progresses and any refurbishment works are undertaken.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The Council’s land and buildings facilitates a range of service delivery and therefore
contributes to the objectives, outcomes and priorities set out in the Best Council
Plan, Inclusive Growth Strategy and Health and Well Being Strategy. The rightsizing
and remodelling of the Council’s estate supports the Best Council ambition to be ‘an
efficient, enterprising and healthy organisation’.
Climate Emergency
4.3.2 One of the key drivers of our estate management approach is to reduce the carbon
footprint of the Council’s buildings. Currently approximately 60% of the Council’s
carbon footprint is associated with its buildings and through the priorities set out in
the Asset Management Plan, one of which is specifically focused on the climate
agenda, the Council seeks to make efficient use of its buildings and reduce the size
of its estate. Through this work, we will ensure that services are appropriately
located to minimise staff travel adding to further carbon reductions. In addition, the
more flexible use of our estate and agility of staff has the potential to reduce travel
demand, both in terms of commuting and work based journeys.
4.3.3 As part of the rationalisation programme, there will be a need to deliver some
investment into our existing estate. Where the Council is refurbishing properties to
be held on a long term basis, energy audits will be undertaken to inform works to
reduce the carbon footprint of individual buildings. This is already being progressed
for some of the buildings such as the Civic Hall, Leeds Town Hall and Unit 6
Waterside which was acquired in 2019 to support the relocation of Assisted Living
Leeds from their current site on Clarence Road.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 Ensuring that the Council has an efficient, well utilised and affordable estate is a
driver of the Estate Management Strategy and a number of the priorities set out in
this paper contribute to this objective. Through the estate rationalisation process
which will be achieved through more flexible use of our accommodation, we are
seeking to reduce running costs associated with buildings as well as maintenance
liabilities. However, it is important to note that it will be important to make
investment into our retained estate to ensure that it is fit for purpose, appropriately
maintained and sustainable. This will be crucial to deliver the remodelling
proposals outlined in this paper with both investment in new furniture and
technology to ensure the new spaces created can be effectively utilised.

Page 59

4.4.2 The Council’s Capital Receipt Programme has been crucial to supporting the
delivery of front line service provision. The acceleration of disposals in the current
financial year will help to bring much needed income into the Council with disposals
in future years supporting the medium term financial strategy.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1

There are no legal implications associated with this paper.

4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 There are a number of risks associated with the delivery of estate rationalisation.
Delivering changes to and rightsizing the Council’s estate is dependent upon our
wider working policies and digital upgrades. As such it is essential for there to be
strong relationships between the workstreams and robust programme management.
In recognition of this requirement, additional programme management resource is
being brought into the programme to ensure that the interdependencies are
properly recognised and managed accordingly.
4.6.2 Whilst the Council has a substantial estate, it is limited given the variety of
competing needs, service requirements and priorities. This is a constant issue
when reviewing the future use of land and buildings and new processes are being
embedded to ensure that decisions are made in an appropriate and timely way.
4.6.3 Finally, there is the potential for local sensitivities regarding possible building
changes, closures and disposals. Whilst the Council may not be able to utilise
buildings, local attachment to buildings is understood and there is a commitment to
early ward member engagement to understand these sensitivities and to help to
identify solutions which can be supported locally.
5

Conclusions

5.1

Changes to the way we work and our digital infrastructure will underpin and inform
changes to the size and form of our estate. However, reducing the size of its estate
will help to support the Council’s financial position and reduce its carbon footprint.

5.2

A remodelling approach for our estate is proposed which will respond to ongoing
staff engagement through providing better opportunities for collaborative working,
whilst improving utilisation and flexibility of our buildings.

5.3

Work is ongoing to explore the release of 17 buildings over the next 2 years, with a
total of 6 properties released by the end of 2020/21. This builds upon the
successful rationalisation programme which has been ongoing for almost 10 years.

5.3

Any property which is surplus to operational requirements will be considered for
redevelopment or reuse to support the Council’s priority programmes or disposal as
part of the Capital Receipt Programme.

5.4

The importance of timely staff engagement is recognised and further surveys and
engagement work is planned to refine our future working approach whilst seeking
views about the prototype collaboration spaces being delivered.

6

Recommendations
Page 60

6.1 Scrutiny Board is asked to:
i)

Note the contents of this report.

ii)

Comment and advise on the proposed approach to remodelling our
office buildings and ensuring the most effective utilisation of our wider
operational estate.

Background documents1
7.1

None.

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
1

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Phased Remodelling of our Estate
Phase 1 (by Easter 2021)
Merrion House

Expanding the collaborative offer. Initial changes to levels 8, 9 and 10.

Deacon House

Initial area of collaborative space

Dewsbury Rd One Stop

Initial area of collaborative space

Tribecca

Initial area of collaborative space

Civic Hall

2nd West and Chief Exec’s collaborative space offer

Seacroft Depot

Initial area of collaborative space

Phase 2 (By end of December 2021)
Merrion House

Initial collaborative spaces delivered in all areas

Civic

Initial collaborative spaces delivered to other office areas of building

Adams Court

Initial areas of collaborative space as part of new social work hub

Apex House

Initial areas of collaborative space, as part of wider building review.

Albion House

Initial area of collaborative space

Armley Community Hub

Initial area of collaborative space

Chapeltown Community Hub

Initial area of collaborative space

Burmantofts Community Hub

Initial area of collaborative space

Compton Centre

Initial area of collaborative space

Garforth Community Hub

Initial area of collaborative space

Rothwell Community Hub

Initial area of collaborative space

Newmarket Approach depot

Collaborative space delivered as part of new build fit out

Phase 3 (By Summer 2022)
Killingbeck Court

Initial area of collaborative space

Kernel House

Initial area of collaborative space

Westland Road

Collaborative space

Seacroft South One Stop

Collaborative space offer delivered

Morley Town Hall

Wider building review to be undertaken

Further development of collaboration space offer to all of the above in line with feedback, demand and
service need

Phase 4 (By December 2022)
Unit 6 Waterside

Temporary mortuary, long term plan for Assisted Living Leeds.

Further development of collaboration space offer to all of the above in line with feedback, demand and
service need

Page 63

Page 64

Appendix 2 – Proposed Retained Core Workspace

City Centre

Locality Offices

Ward

Name / Address

Refurbished or Investment required

City & Hunslet

Leeds Civic Hall, Calverley Street

Mixed refurbishment, political offices still required
Investment required to changing and welfare facilities

City & Hunslet

Merrion House, Woodhouse Lane

Refurbished

City & Hunslet

Enterprise House, St Paul’s Street

Refurbished

Beeston & Holbeck

Adams Court, Whitehall Road, Lower Wortley

Guiseley & Rawdon

Albion House, No 1 Rawdon Park, Rawdon

Requires refurbishment. Lite touch furniture replacement and
some re-configuration
Refurbished

Beeston & Holbeck

Apex House, Apex Centre, 8 Apex Way, Hunslet

Killingbeck & Seacroft

Kernel House, Killingbeck Drive, Killingbeck

Morley South

Morley Town Hall, Morley Town Hall, Queen Street, Morley

City & Hunslet

1128

454

Currently Closed – Only remaining
leased in City Centre Property
Currently Closed
90

31

Page 65

Requires refurbishment. Lite touch furniture replacement and
some re-configuration
Requires refurbishment. Lite touch some furniture replacement

130

45

130

50

117

39

Tribeca House, Roundhay Road, Roundhay

Requires refurbishment. Lite touch furniture replacement and
some re-configuration
Refurbished

180

60

Killingbeck & Seacroft

Unit 1 Killingbeck Court, Killingbeck Drive, Killingbeck

Refurbished

57

19

Killingbeck & Seacroft

Unit 2 Killingbeck Court, Killingbeck Drive, Killingbeck

Refurbished

64

28

Armley

Armley Community Hub, Stocks Hill, Armley

Refurbished

55

17

Burmantofts & Richmond Hill

Burmantofts Community Hub, Rigton Lawn, Burmantofts

Refurbished

Chapel Allerton

Chapeltown Community Hub (including Chapeltown Library AKA
Reginald Centre)

Refurbished

Compton Centre (including Compton Road Library)
Dewsbury Road Community Hub, 190 Dewsbury Road, Hunslet
Garforth Community Hub, Lidgett Lane, Garforth

Refurbished
Refurbished
Refurbished

Rothwell

Rothwell Community Hub, Marsh Street, Rothwell

Refurbished

20

8

Killingbeck & Seacroft

Seacroft Community Hub (AKA Deacon House),

Refurbished

75

25

Killingbeck & Seacroft

Seacroft South OSC, 91-95 Moresdale Lane, Seacroft

Requires lite-touch refurbishment – OSC will move to Crossgates
Community Hub following the refurbishment

Killingbeck & Seacroft
Beeston & Holbeck

Seacroft Ring Road Depot (SRRD)
Westland Road Complex, Westland Road, Beeston

Refurbished
Refurbished

115
30

33
10

Hunslet & Riverside

Unit 6 Waterside, Waterside Industrial Estate

Acquired but not refurbished

0

0

Burmantofts and RIchmondhill

Newmarket Approach Depot

New Build

Workspaces in Gipton & Harehills
Community
City & Hunslet
Hubs
Garforth & Swillington

Offices in
Depots

Desk Capacity pre COVID 19-Secure
COVID-19
Capacity
505
206

Currently Closed
45
48
63
Currently Closed

15
16
21

100
Total

2952

1077

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Report author: Rob Clayton
Tel: 0113 3788790
Report of Head of Democratic Services
Report to Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources)
Date: 15 February 2021
Subject: Work Schedule

Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the
municipal year 2020/21.

2. Background Information
2.1

All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule
for the municipal year. In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a
fixed and rigid schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted
and changed to reflect any new and emerging issues throughout the year; and also
reflect any timetable issues that might occur from time to time.

3.

Main issues

3.1

A draft work schedule is attached for consideration at Appendix 1. Already included
within the draft work schedule are traditional items of Scrutiny work. These involve
recommendation tracking of work previously undertaken by the Strategy and
Resources Scrutiny Board; performance monitoring reports and any Budget and
Policy Framework Plans.

3.2

On 16 March 2020, in light of the Covid-19 pandemic, Leeds City Council took the
necessary steps to cancel a number of planned meetings of various Committees,
Page 67

3.3

Boards and Panels. This included all Scrutiny Board meetings and any joint scrutiny
arrangements where the Council acts as the lead authority.
In June 2020 public sessions of all Scrutiny Boards re-started, albeit remotely. It was
agreed with Scrutiny Chairs that the first two sessions for each Board will be in a
more streamlined format than traditional committee meetings. This meeting will be
the seventh Strategy & Resources meeting to be held remotely and the new
approach has proven to be effective in terms of stability and effectively delivering
scrutiny board committee meetings.

3.4

At its July meeting Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources considered the work
schedule for the year and a number of suggestions were made. These focussed on
the budgetary implications of Covid-19 including Council Tax and Business Rate
collection, the impact the pandemic is having on ways of working, including home
working, and on how the council manages its assets and also grant allocations to
Welcome to Yorkshire.

3.5

Further consideration of the Work Schedule has taken place at subsequent meetings
of the Board and members have identified a number of areas of interest that have
been dealt with as the municipal year has progressed, some of which are included on
today’s agenda including the ongoing inquiry work into Agile Working and Estate
Realisation and interest in the closure of White Rose Energy. The Board’s work
schedule is included at Appendix 1.
Developing the work schedule

3.6

When considering any developments and/or modifications to the work schedule,
effort should be undertaken to:
 Avoid unnecessary duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums
already having oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue.
 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value
and can be delivered within an agreed time frame.
 Avoid pure “information items” except where that information is being received as
part of a policy/scrutiny review.
 Seek advice about available resources and relevant timings, taking into
consideration the workload across the Scrutiny Boards and the type of Scrutiny
taking place.
 Build in sufficient flexibility to enable the consideration of urgent matters that may
arise during the year.

3.7

In addition, in order to deliver the work schedule, the Board may need to take a
flexible approach and undertake activities outside the formal schedule of meetings –
such as working groups and site visits, where necessary and appropriate. This
flexible approach may also require additional formal meetings of the Scrutiny Board.

4. Consultation and engagement
4.1.1 The Vision for Scrutiny states that Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the
Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director(s) and Executive Member(s) about available
resources prior to agreeing items of work.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration
Page 68

4.2.1 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules state that, where appropriate, all terms of
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘to review how and to
what effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all
equality areas, as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward
looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives.
Climate Emergency
4.3.2 When considering areas of work, the Board is reminded that influencing climate
change and sustainability should be a key area of focus.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater
value if the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at
one time and focus its resources on one key issue at a time.
4.4.2 The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other
Council functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable
pressure and that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.
Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should:

4.5



Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive
Member about available resources;



Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already
having oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue;



Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add
value and can be delivered within an agreed time frame.

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 This report has no specific legal implications.
4.6

Risk Management

4.6.1 This report has no specific risk management implications.
5. Conclusions
5.1

All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule
for the municipal year. The latest iteration of the Board’s work schedule is attached
as Appendix 1 for consideration and agreement of the Scrutiny Board – subject to
any identified and agreed amendments.

Page 69

6. Recommendations
6.1

Members are asked to consider the matters outlined in this report and agree (or
amend) the overall work schedule (as presented at Appendix 1) as the basis for the
Board’s work for the remainder of 2020/21.

7. Background Documents1
7.1

None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.
1

Page 70

Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2020/2021 Municipal Year

June

July

Meeting Agenda for 10th June 2020
*REMOTE SESSION*

West Yorkshire Devolution Deal –
Consultation on the published Scheme
(PDS)

August

Meeting Agenda for 1st July 2020
and 22nd July 2020
*REMOTE SESSION* - Agenda for 1st July 2020

West Yorkshire Devolution Deal – Consultation on the
published Scheme (PDS)
*REMOTE SESSION* - Agenda for 22nd July 2020

Page 71

Financial Performance – 2019/20 Outturn (PM)
Treasury Management – 2019/20 Outturn (PM)
Impact of Coronavirus (COVID-19) upon Leeds City
Council's 2020/21 Financial Position and Update on
the Forecast Budget Position for 2021/22 (PM)

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2020/2021 Municipal Year

September

October

November

Meeting Agenda for 7th September 2020

Meeting Agenda for 12th October 2020.

Meeting Agenda for 16th November 2020.

Page 72

*Remote Session*

*Remote Session*

*Remote Session*

Annual Corporate Risk Management Report
(PM)

Budget Saving Proposals – Consideration of 24
September Executive Board Report

Welcome to Yorkshire financial update

Business Continuity Plans – Overview of
Council response to Covid-19 pandemic

Inquiry into the reduction of energy consumption
in Council buildings – Formal Response (RT)

Scrutiny review of resilience and emergency
planning – recommendation tracking (RT)

Scrutiny review on the management and
financial implications of council owned void
properties – recommendation tracking (RT)

Covid-19: Agile working approach and Estate
Realisation
Council Tax and Business Rates Recovery
following Covid-19

Working Group Meetings
Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2020/2021 Municipal Year

December

January

February

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Meeting Agenda for 11th January 2021

Meeting Agenda for 15th February 2021

Proposed Budget for 2021/22 and Provisional
Budgets for 2022/23 and 2023/24 (PDS)
Page 73

White Rose Energy and Robin Hood Energy –
Update Report, Implications and alternative
suppliers

Financial Health Monitoring (PSR)
Social Value Update - Procurement
Performance report (PM)
BAME CLT Action Plan
Covid-19: Agile working approach and Estate
Realisation (second report)

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Covid-19: Agile working approach and Estate
Realisation (third report)

Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2020/2021 Municipal Year
Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

March

April

May

Meeting Agenda for 22nd March 2021

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Council Tax and Business Rates Recovery
following Covid-19

Page 74

Covid-19: Agile working approach and Estate
Realisation – Fourth Report – use of technology

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:

Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2020/2021 Municipal Year
PSR
PDS

Policy/Service Review
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Page 75

This page is intentionally left blank

